
Joint Strategic Policy and Performance and Finance Council Meeting 
Agenda 

FEBRUARY 27, 2024 • 10:00 – 12:00 P.M., ET 
DOUBLETREE HOTEL 

____________________________________________________________________________ 

Chair’s Welcome and Remarks Bill Johnson 
Finance Chair 

Consent Items Bill Johnson 

1. November 14, 2023, Finance Council and SPPC Joint Information Meeting Minutes
2. December 11, 2023, Finance Council Meeting Minutes
3. December 11, 2023, SPPC Meeting Minutes

Action Items Dan McGrew 
Sr. Vice President, Workforce Program Development 

Keantha Moore 
Chief, Bureau of One-Stop and Program Support, FloridaCommerce 

1. Administrative Policy 110 Local Workforce Development Area and Board Governance
2. Administrative Policy 091 Local Workforce Development Board Composition and

Certification

IWT and QRT Grant Update Malissa Counts 
Grants Manager 

Workforce Initiatives Update Dan McGrew 
1. Hope Florida Adam Briggs, Ph.D. 

Sr. Director Workforce Program Development 
2. Apprenticeship Expansion Susan Bosse 

Director Workforce Program Development 
3. Florida Healthcare Training Initiative Bruce Ferguson 

President CareerSource Northeast Florida 

WIOA Combined Plan Economic Analysis Jimmy Heckman 
Chief, Bureau of Workforce Statistics and Economic Research, FloridaCommerce 

Open Discussion/Public Comment 

Chair’s Closing Remarks Bill Johnson 

UPCOMING MEETINGS 

Board of Directors Meeting 
February 28, 9:00 - 12:00 p.m., Tallahassee Information Items

https://careersourceflorida.com/boardroom


1 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Consent Item 1 
  

November 14, 2023, INFORMATION MEETING MINUTES  

  
In accordance with Article VII, Section 7.3 of the approved bylaws, the corporation is required to 
keep correct and complete books and records of accounts and shall keep minutes on the 
proceedings of the board of directors.  
  

  
  
  
  
  
  
 
 
 
 
 

 

  

  

  

  

  
_________________________________  

FOR CONSIDERATION  
 

• Approval of November 14, 2023, Finance Council and SPPC Joint Information 
Meeting Minutes, to include any modifications or changes noted by the council. 

 

 

CareerSource Florida  
Joint Strategic Policy and 

Performance and Finance 
Council Meeting 

February 27, 2024 
Consent Item 1 

Approved_____________ 

 



2 
 

CareerSource Florida 
Joint Strategic Policy and Performance Council and  

Finance Council Meeting Minutes 
November 14, 2023 

 
I. Call to Order 

Chair Sophia Eccleston called the Joint Strategic Policy and Performance Council 
meeting to order at 3:00 p.m. on November 14, 2023. 

 
II. Roll Call 

Chair Johnson introduced Executive Assistant Kay Clement and invited her to conduct a 
roll call. The following members were present:  
 
Sophia Eccleston 
Bayne Beecher 
Eric Hall 
Tim Hinson 
John Adams 
Jennifer O’Flannery Anderson 
Kevin McDonald 
Andrew Schmadeke 
Meredith Standfield 
 

III. Chair’s Opening Remarks 
Chair Eccleston announced that CareerSource Florida and Miller Electric Company will 
cohost a National Apprenticeship Week media event and ribbon cutting in Jacksonville 
on Friday to celebrate the expansion of apprenticeship opportunities in Florida.  

She thanked Board of Directors and Strategic Policy and Performance Council member 
Tim Hinson and his team for allowing CareerSource Florida to host the event at Miller 
Electric’s new Electric Vehicle Innovation Design Center. 

 
IV. 2024-2028 WIOA Combined State Plan 

CareerSource Florida President and CEO Adrienne Johnston recognized 
Communications and Board Relations Senior Director Victoria Heller and thanked her for 
her service to CareerSource Florida and dedication to our board relations. Johnston 
provided an update on the 2024-2028 Workforce Innovation and Opportunity Act (WIOA) 
Combined Statewide Plan.  
 
CareerSource Florida assists the Governor in submitting a four-year WIOA State Plan to 
submit to the United States Department of Labor. Previously, this plan only included 
required WIOA partners. The new combined plan will include required partners and non-
required partners to plan more collaboratively to include business, education, economic 
development, and human service providers to help Floridians achieve self-sufficiency. 
The plan will be presented to the board for feedback at the February meeting. The final 
plan will be submitted to USDOL in March 2024. 

 
V. Local Workforce Development Board Letter Grades 

CareerSource Florida Senior Program Analyst Jacqueline Barreiros provided an update 
on the Letter Grades. The Reimagining Education and Career Help (REACH) Act 



3 
 

charged the Governor’s Office with developing the criteria to determine letter grades for 
local workforce development boards and the CareerSource Florida Board of Directors 
with assigning and publicly releasing the letter grades annually.  
 
Senate Bill 240 further defines the timeline of assigning letter grades, requiring the 
assignment of letter grades by October 15 following the close of each program year. The 
Board of Directors released the Letter Grades for Program Year 2022-2023 during the 
Executive Committee meeting held in October. 
 
In July, CareerSource Florida distributed a memo with an overview of the anticipated 
updates for the upcoming program year. To learn more about Letter Grades, visit 
Analytics: Letter Grades: Home (careersourceflorida.com) 

 
VI. Policy Development Updates 

CareerSource Florida Workforce Program Development Senior Director Adam Briggs 
shared an update on the Statewide Standardization of Tools and Services Administrative 
Policy. The policy provides a framework for tools and technologies made available to 
local workforce development programs at the state level.  
 
CareerSource Florida Workforce Program Development Director Susan Bosse provided 
an update on the Registered Apprenticeship Strategic Policy. This policy defines a 
network-wide apprenticeship strategy for all local workforce development boards and 
establishes set goals for apprenticeship expansion across the state. 

 
VII. System-wide Improvements 

CareerSource Florida Workforce Program Development Senior Vice President Dan 
McGrew gave an update on Pillar II of the Florida Workforce System Transformation 
Plan, System-wide Improvements. CareerSource Florida, contractor Ernst & Young 
(EY), and FloridaCommerce are developing statewide contract templates for On-the-Job 
Training and Individual Training Accounts. The templates are expected to be completed 
in early 2024 and will be implemented after receiving feedback from local workforce 
development boards.  
 
EY is developing additional contract templates, including Infrastructure Funding 
Agreements and One-stop Operator Request for Proposals. 
 
McGrew shared an update on regional planning areas, noting the Designation of 
Regional Planning Areas administrative policy considered and approved by the Board of 
Directors at the September meeting. Two regional areas are in the process of securing 
this designation: local areas 1-4 and local areas 17 and 19. 

 
VIII. Financial Performance Updates 

CareerSource Florida Chief Financial Officer Andrew Collins provided an update on the 
CareerSource Florida external audit conducted by Carr, Riggs, and Ingram LLC. The 
audit report will be presented to the board in December. Collins shared that the 
organization has had a clean audit for 22 consecutive years. 

 
IX. Policy & Practice Implementation Updates 

CareerSource Florida Grants Manager Malissa Counts gave an update on workforce 
training grants. For this program year, the Incumbent Worker Training Grant was 

https://analytics.careersourceflorida.com/LetterGrades


4 
 

allocated $3 million. In the first quarter, more than $703,000 was contracted for more 
than 700 trainees. Additional contracts are pending for the first quarter.  

The Quick Response Training Grant was allocated $7.5 million. CareerSource Florida 
has contracted over $2.3 million, which is a significant increase from last year's first-
quarter allocations.  

 
X. Policy & Practice Implementation Updates 

CareerSource Florida Workforce Program Development Senior Director Adam Briggs 
gave an update on Hope Florida related items included in the 2023-2024 budget 
package at the June board meeting. Local workforce development boards submitted 
Hope Florida program plans, which identifies a Hope Navigator in each local area.  
 
FloridaCommerce is developing tags in the Employ Florida system for reporting and 
performance measurement associated with specific local workforce development boards 
engagement with Hope Florida clients and employers who wish to participate.  
 
Briggs said the goal is to identify and address gaps between workforce partners. His 
team is working to operationalize the Florida Career Ladder Identifier and Financial 
Forecaster (CLIFF) strategic policy passed in June. Hope Navigators will complete self-
guided CLIFF trainings, created by partners at the Federal Reserve Bank of Atlanta.  
 
CareerSource Florida Workforce Program Development Senior Director Dehryl McCall 
shared a brief update on the implementation of the Education and Industry Consortium 
policy. In October, CareerSource Florida led an implementation workshop for local 
workforce development boards to discuss the new policy and templates. CareerSource 
Florida staff also met with FloridaCommerce to ensure compliance with the policy.   
 

XI. Open Discussion/Public Comment 
McGrew stepped in for Chair Eccleston and asked if any council members or members 
of the public wished to comment.  
 
There were no comments. 
 

XII. Chair’s Closing Remarks 
 

McGrew adjourned the meeting at 4:00 p.m. 
  



1 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Consent Item 2 
  

December 11, 2023, FINANCE COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES  

  
In accordance with Article VII, Section 7.3 of the approved bylaws, the corporation is required to 
keep correct and complete books and records of accounts and shall keep minutes on the 
proceedings of the board of directors.  
  

  
  
  
  
  
  
 
 
 
 
 

 

  

  

  

  

  

  
_________________________________  

FOR CONSIDERATION  
 

• Approval of December 11, 2023, Finance Council Meeting Minutes, to include any 
modifications or changes noted by the council. 

 

CareerSource Florida  
Joint Strategic Policy and 

Performance and Finance 
Council Meeting 

February 27, 2024 
Consent Item 2 

Approved_____________ 

 



2 
 

CareerSource Florida 
Finance Council Meeting Minutes 

December 11, 2023 
 

I. Call to Order 
Chair Bill Johnson called the Finance Council interim meeting to order at 10:00 a.m. on 
December 11, 2023.  
 

II. Roll Call  
Chair Johnson introduced Executive Assistant Kay Clement and invited her to conduct a 
roll call. The following members were present:  

 
 John Adams  

Bill Johnson 
 Kevin McDonald 
 Jennifer O’Flannery Anderson 
 Robert Salonen 
 Les Sims 
 Meredith Standfield  

Emmanuel Tormes 
 
 A quorum was present.  
 
III. Consent Items 

 
1. Approval of August 22, 2023, Meeting Minutes, to include any modifications or 

changes noted by the council.  
2. Approval of September 18, 2023, Meeting Minutes, to include any modifications or 

changes noted by the council. 
 

Chair Johnson called for a vote to approve the consent items.  
 

Motion: Kevin McDonald 
Second: John Adams 

 
The consent items passed unanimously. 
 

IV. Annual Independent Audit 
CareerSource Florida Chief Financial Officer Andrew Collins and Carr, Riggs & Ingram, 
LLC Partner-In-Charge Michael Carter gave an overview of the CareerSource Florida 
annual independent audit report. The report is included in the finance council meeting 
agenda packet. 

 
V. Action Item 

 
Acceptance of the annual financial audit for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2023, 
conducted, and prepared by Carr, Riggs & Ingram, LLC. 

 
Chair Johnson called for a vote to approve the action item.  

 
Motion: Robert Salonen 



3 
 

Second: Kevin McDonald 
 

The action item passed unanimously. 
 
VI. CareerSource Florida Grants Management Update 

CareerSource Florida Grants Manager Malissa Counts shared an update workforce 
training grant. The Quick Response Training (QRT) and Incumbent Worker Training 
(IWT) grant programs assist businesses with training costs to increase business 
productivity and job retention. 
 
The state-funded QRT grant assists new businesses or businesses relocating to or 
expanding in Florida. The QRT grant was allocated $7.5 million for the 2023-2024 
program year. CareerSource Florida has contracted more than $2.8 million or 38% of its 
allocation, with the average award being $200,000.  
 
The federally-funded IWT grant helps small businesses by reimbursing up to 75% of pre-
approved training costs. The IWT grant was allocated $3 million for the current program 
year, with a maximum grant amount of $100,000. With the average award of $29,000, 
nearly $900,000, or 30% of our allocation, has already contracted nearly 900 trainees to 
be trained.  
 

VII. Open Discussion/Public Comment  
Chair Johnson asked if any board members or members of the public wished to 
comment.  
 
There were no comments. 

 
VIII. Chair’s Closing Remarks 

Chair Johnson adjourned the meeting at 10:28 a.m.  
  

Additional meeting dialogue is recorded and available online at this link.  

https://careersourceflorida.com/event/fin-dec-2023/


1 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Consent Item 3 
  

December 11, 2023, SPPC MEETING MINUTES  

  
In accordance with Article VII, Section 7.3 of the approved bylaws, the corporation is required to 
keep correct and complete books and records of accounts and shall keep minutes on the 
proceedings of the board of directors.  
  

  
  
  
  
  
  
 
 
 
 
 

 

  

  

  

  

  

  
_________________________________  

FOR CONSIDERATION  
 

• Approval of December 11, 2023, SPPC Meeting Minutes, to include any 
modifications or changes noted by the council. 

 

CareerSource Florida  
Joint Strategic Policy and 

Performance and Finance 
Council Meeting 

February 27, 2024 
Consent Item 3 

Approved_____________ 

 



2 
 

CareerSource Florida 
Strategic Policy and Performance Council Meeting Minutes 

December 11, 2023 
 

I. Call to Order 
Chair Sophia Eccleston called the Joint Strategic Policy and Performance Council 
meeting to order at 2:00 p.m. on December 11, 2023. 

 
II. Roll Call 

Executive Assistant Kay Clement conducted a roll call. The following members were 
present:  
 
Bayne Beecher 
Kiley Damone 
Robert Doyle 
Sophia Eccleston 
Eric Hall 
Joe Marino 
Laurie Sallarulo 
Brian Sartain 
 
 

III. Employing Veterans in Florida 
Chair Eccleston introduced Joe Marino, CEO of Veterans Florida, to share information 
about Veterans Florida and the importance of employing veterans in Florida. Veterans 
Florida is a non-profit created by the State of Florida to help veterans transition to civilian 
life and promote Florida as the most military-friendly state in the country. 
 

IV. Consent Items 
Chair Eccleston called for a vote to approve the Consent Items.  
 
1. Approval of August 22, 2023, Meeting Minutes to include any modifications or 
changes noted by the council.  
 
2. Approval of September 18, 2023, Meeting Minutes to include any modifications 
or changes noted by the council. 
 
Motion: Eric Hall 
Second: Laurie Sallarulo 
 
The consent items passed unanimously. There were no public comments.  
 

V. Registered Apprenticeship Panel 
 
Chair Eccleston reminded the council of the upcoming action item, concerning a revision 
to the strategic policy on apprenticeship. She recognized CareerSource Florida 
Workforce Program Development Director Susan Bosse and invited her to introduce the 
panelists to discuss the importance of apprenticeship programs as a talent development 
strategy.   
 
Bosse introduced the registered apprenticeship panelists:  



3 
 

 
o Bayne Beecher, Supply Chain Senior Manager at PGT Solutions 
o Christina Brown, Manager of Apprenticeship Programs at Florida Behavioral 

Health 
o Natasha Sherwood, Executive Director at Independent Electrical Contractors 

Florida 
o Mark Yarik, Employment Coordinator at HAECO Airframe Services, LLC 

 
The panelists provided an overview of their organization and explained how 
apprenticeship programs contribute to the development of well-trained talent. Bosse 
emphasized that apprenticeships are essential for ensuring sustained productivity and 
growth for unskilled workers and underserved populations. Furthermore, she highlighted 
that apprenticeships offer a valuable pathway to sustainable careers with competitive 
wages. 
 

VI. Action Items 
CareerSource Florida Senior Vice President of Workforce Program Development Dan 
McGrew presented the Action Items comprised one strategic policy and two 
administrative policies. 
 
McGrew invited Bosse to present the first action item. 
 
1. Approve CareerSource Florida Strategic Policy 2019.02.13.A.1 – Registered 
Apprenticeship Policy 
 
Chair Eccleston called for a vote to approve the action item.  
 
Motion: Brian Sartain 
Second: Bayne Beecher 
 
The action item passed unanimously. There were no public comments.  
 
McGrew introduced Deputy Chief of Bureau of One-Stop and Program Support at 
Florida Commerce Keantha Moore to brief the council on the second and third action 
items.  
 
2. Approve CareerSource Florida Administrative Policy – Statewide 
Standardization of Tools and Services implementing the requirements 
Chair Eccleston called for a vote to approve the action item.  
 
Motion: Eric Hall 
Second: Joe Marino 
 
The action item passed unanimously. There were no public comments.  

 
3. Approve CareerSource Florida Administrative Policy – Regional Planning Area 
Identification and Requirements 
 
Chair Eccleston called for a vote to approve the action item.  
 
Motion: Robert Doyle 



4 
 

Second: Bayne Beecher 
 
The action item passed unanimously. There were no public comments. 
 

 
VII. Network Performance Update 

FloridaCommerce Workforce Statistics and Economic Research Bureau Chief Jimmy 
Heckman and Workforce Program Performance Senior Management Analyst Daniel 
Harper gave an update on network performance. They discussed labor market 
information and program performance metrics used for workforce programs. 
 

VIII. 2024-2028 WIOA Combined Plan 
McGrew shared the 2024-2028 Workforce Innovation and Opportunity Act (WIOA) 
Combined Plan that was initially introduced to the council during the November 
informational meeting.  
 
The WIOA Combined Plan now includes additional partners beyond the core eligible 
partners, which promotes collaboration within Florida's workforce system through inter-
partner agreements to enhance the effectiveness of the workforce system and best 
serve Florida's job seekers and businesses. 
 
The following partners have agreed to have agreed to contribute to Florida's first WIOA 
combined plan:  
 

o Temporary Assistance for Needy Families (TANF)  
o Employment and Training Programs under the Supplemental Nutrition 

Assistance Program (SNAP)  
o Trade Adjustment Assistance for workers program 
o Unemployment Insurance Programs 
o Jobs for Veterans State Grant  
o Senior Community Service Employment Program  
o Community Services Block Grant  

 
The next WIOA combined plan submission is due in the early Spring of 2024, which will 
cover July 1, 2024, through June 30, 2028.   
 

IX. Open Discussion/Public Comment 
Chair Eccleston asked if any council members or members of the public wished to 
comment.  
 
There were no comments. 
 

X. Chair’s Closing Remarks 
Chair Eccleston thanked the council for attending the meeting and wished everyone 
happy holidays. 
 
The meeting was adjourned at 3:48 p.m. 
 
 
 
Additional meeting dialogue is recorded and available online at this link. 

https://careersourceflorida.com/event/spp-dec-2023/


 
 

 
 
 
Action Item 1 

 
CAREERSOURCE FLORIDA ADMINISTRATIVE POLICY 110 

LOCAL WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT AREA  
AND BOARD GOVERNANCE 

 
Public Law 113-128, The Workforce Innovation and Opportunity Act (WIOA) envisions a 
workforce development system that focuses on the needs of job seekers and 
businesses, and anticipates and responds to the needs of local and regional 
communities. 
 
WIOA requires local workforce development boards and chief elected officials to design 
and govern the system regionally, align workforce policies and services with regional 
economies, and support service delivery strategies tailored to those needs. The local 
area serves as a jurisdiction for the administration of workforce development activities 
which require the chief elected official to play an active role in both the strategic 
planning and ongoing operation of the local system. Agreements between the chief 
elected official and the entities responsible for the local workforce development system 
address how the local area functions and how administrative tasks are carried out within 
the local area. 
 
On February 18, 2021, the CareerSource Florida Board of Directors approved 
CareerSource Florida Administrative Policy 110 – Local Workforce Development Area 
and Board Governance. The Florida Department of Commerce (formerly known as the 
Florida Department of Economic Opportunity) issued the administrative policy on March 
4, 2021. On July 1, 2021, this policy was revised and approved by the CareerSource 
Florida Board of Directors to incorporate the requirements of the Reimagining Education 
and Career help Act of 2021 (House Bill 1507). 
 
On May 15, 2023, Senate Bill 240, an act relating to education, amended Section 
445.007(15), Florida Statutes formally changed the name of the Florida Department of 
Economic Opportunity to the Florida Department of Commerce. This legislation also 
added additional requirements to the function of local workforce development boards 
including the appointment of local education and industry consortiums by local boards.  
On June 7, 2023, the CareerSource Florida Board of Directors approved the following 
strategic policies: 
 

• Board Governance and Leadership 

CareerSource Florida 
Joint Strategic Policy and 

Performance and Finance Council 
Meeting 

February 27, 2024 
Action Item 1 

 
Approved________________ 

 

https://careersourceflorida.com/wp-content/uploads/2023/11/REACH-Act-and-SB240-Overview.pdf
https://careersourceflorida.com/wp-content/uploads/2023/11/REACH-Act-and-SB240-Overview.pdf
https://careersourceflorida.com/wp-content/uploads/2023/06/Board-Governance-and-Leadership-Policy.pdf


 
 

• Certification of Local Workforce Development Areas and Local Workforce 
Development Boards 

Additionally, on September 19, 2023, the CareerSource Florida Board of Directors 
approved CareerSource Florida Strategic Policy – Education and Industry Consortiums. 
 
CareerSource Florida Administrative Policy 110 – Local Workforce Development Area 
and Board Governance is updated to incorporate changes to Florida Statutes and 
policies approved by the CareerSource Florida Board of Directors and implemented by 
the Florida Workforce Development System. This policy provides guidance to Chief 
Local Elected officials, fiscal agents, local workforce development boards, local board 
chairpersons, local workforce development board staff, and workforce system partners 
on the requirements for local workforce development area and local workforce 
development board governance. This policy outlines key roles, responsibilities, and 
requirements of the entities/individuals that make up the workforce development system 
within the local area. 
 
This administrative policy also identifies and describes required agreements to ensure 
the local area serves as a jurisdiction for the administration of workforce development 
activities and expenditure of Workforce Innovation and Opportunity Act adult, dislocated 
worker, and youth funds allocated to local workforce development boards by the Florida 
Department of Commerce. 
 

_________________________ 
FOR CONSIDERATION 

 
• Approve CareerSource Florida Administrative Policy 110 – Local Workforce 

Development Area and Board Governance 
 

Supporting Documents: 
 

• Public Law 113-128, Workforce Innovation and Opportunity Act, Sections 106 
and 107  
 

• 20 Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) 678.600; 20 CFR 679.310; 20 CFR 
679.320; and 20 CFR 679.370 
 

• Chapter 119, Florida Statutes  
 

• Chapter 286, Florida Statutes  
 

• Sections 445.004 and 445.007, Florida Statutes 
 

• CareerSource Florida Strategic Policy 2023.09.19.A.2 – Education and Industry 
Consortiums 

https://careersourceflorida.com/wp-content/uploads/2023/06/Certification-of-Local-Workforce-Development-Areas-and-Local-Workforce-Development-Boards-Policy.pdf
https://careersourceflorida.com/wp-content/uploads/2023/06/Certification-of-Local-Workforce-Development-Areas-and-Local-Workforce-Development-Boards-Policy.pdf
https://careersourceflorida.com/wp-content/uploads/2023/09/Education-and-Industry-Consortiums-Strategic-Policy.pdf
https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/PLAW-113publ128/pdf/PLAW-113publ128.pdf
https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/PLAW-113publ128/pdf/PLAW-113publ128.pdf
https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/PLAW-113publ128/pdf/PLAW-113publ128.pdf
https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/PLAW-113publ128/pdf/PLAW-113publ128.pdf
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-20/chapter-V/part-678/subpart-D/section-678.600
https://www.ecfr.gov/cgi-bin/text-idx?SID=347ab3bd845bf353074eecfa6d30ea77&mc=true&node=pt20.4.679&rgn=div5&se20.4.679_1310#se20.4.679_1310
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-20/chapter-V/part-679/subpart-C/section-679.320
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-20/chapter-V/part-679/subpart-C/section-679.320
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-20/chapter-V/part-679/subpart-C/section-679.370
http://www.leg.state.fl.us/statutes/index.cfm?App_mode=Display_Statute&URL=0200-0299/0286/0286ContentsIndex.html&StatuteYear=2023&Title=%2D%3E2023%2D%3EChapter%20286
http://www.leg.state.fl.us/statutes/index.cfm?App_mode=Display_Statute&URL=0200-0299/0286/0286ContentsIndex.html&StatuteYear=2020&Title=%2D%3E2020%2D%3EChapter%20286
http://www.leg.state.fl.us/statutes/index.cfm?App_mode=Display_Statute&URL=0400-0499/0445/0445ContentsIndex.html&StatuteYear=2023&Title=%2D%3E2023%2D%3EChapter%20445
https://careersourceflorida.com/wp-content/uploads/2023/09/Education-and-Industry-Consortiums-Strategic-Policy.pdf
https://careersourceflorida.com/wp-content/uploads/2023/09/Education-and-Industry-Consortiums-Strategic-Policy.pdf


 
 

 

• CareerSource Florida Strategic Policy 2020.02.20.A.1. – Board Governance 
and Leadership 

• CareerSource Florida Strategic Policy 2000.08.15.8D – Certification of Local 
Workforce Development Areas and Local Workforce Development Boards 

• CareerSource Florida Strategic Policy 2018.09.26.A.1 – Ethics and Transparency 
Policy  

https://careersourceflorida.com/wp-content/uploads/2023/06/Board-Governance-and-Leadership-Policy.pdf
https://careersourceflorida.com/wp-content/uploads/2023/06/Certification-of-Local-Workforce-Development-Areas-and-Local-Workforce-Development-Boards-Policy.pdf
https://careersourceflorida.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/09_CSF-Ethics-and-Transparency-Policy-FINAL.pdf
https://careersourceflorida.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/09_CSF-Ethics-and-Transparency-Policy-FINAL.pdf
https://careersourceflorida.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/09_CSF-Ethics-and-Transparency-Policy-FINAL.pdf
https://careersourceflorida.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/09_CSF-Ethics-and-Transparency-Policy-FINAL.pdf
https://careersourceflorida.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/09_CSF-Ethics-and-Transparency-Policy-FINAL.pdf


Administrative Policy 

POLICY 
NUMBER  

110 

Title: Local Workforce Development Area and Board Governance 

Program: Workforce Innovation and Opportunity Act 

Effective: 03/04/2021 Revised: TBD 

I. PURPOSE AND SCOPE  
The purpose of this policy is to provide guidance to Chief Local Elected Officials 
(CLEOs), Fiscal Agents, Local Workforce Development Boards (LWDBs), LWDB 
Chairpersons, LWDB staff, and workforce system partners on the requirements for local 
workforce development area (local area) and LWDB governance. This policy outlines key 
roles, responsibilities, and requirements of the entities/individuals that make up the 
workforce development system within a local area. 

This policy also identifies and describes required agreements to ensure the local area serves 
as a jurisdiction for the administration of workforce development activities and 
expenditure of Workforce Innovation and Opportunity Act (WIOA) adult, dislocated 
worker, and youth funds allocated to LWDBs by the Florida Department of Commerce 
(FloridaCommerce).  

II. BACKGROUND  

WIOA envisions a workforce development system that focuses on the needs of job seekers 
and businesses and anticipates and responds to the needs of local and regional economies. 
WIOA requires LWDBs and CLEOs to design and govern the system regionally, align 
workforce policies and services with regional economies, and support service delivery 
strategies tailored to those needs. The local area serves as a jurisdiction for the 
administration of workforce development activities which requires the CLEO to play an 
active role in both the strategic planning and ongoing operation of the local workforce 
development system. Agreements between the CLEO and the entities responsible for the 



Local Workforce Development Area and Board Governance 
Policy Number 110 

Page 2 of 23 
 
local workforce development system will address how the local area functions and how 
administrative tasks will be carried out within the local area.  

III. AUTHORITY 

Public Law 113-128, Workforce Innovation and Opportunity Act, Sections 106 and 107  
20 Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) 678.600; 20 CFR 679.310; 20 CFR 679.320; and 20 
CFR 679.370 
Chapter 119, F. S.  
Chapter 286, F.S.  
Sections 445.004 and 445.007, F.S.  
CareerSource Florida Strategic Policy 2023.09.19.A.2 – Education and Industry 
Consortiums 
CareerSource Florida Strategic Policy 2020.02.20.A.1 – Board Governance and 
Leadership   
CareerSource Florida Strategic Policy 2018.09.26.A.1 – Ethics and Transparency Policy  

IV. POLICIES AND PROCEDURES  

A. Roles and Responsibilities 

1. Chief Local Elected Official (CLEO)  

Pursuant to WIOA sec. 3(9), the CLEO is the chief elected executive officer of a 
unit of general local government in a local area and, in a case in which a local area 
includes more than one unit of general local government, the representative(s) 
under the agreement (interlocal, consortium, and other agreements as described in 
Section IV.F.1. of this policy) that specifies the respective roles.  

The CLEO’s responsibilities include: 

a) Requesting local area designation (as prescribed in Administrative Policy 094 
– Local Workforce Development Area Designation);  

b) Requesting LWDB certification (as prescribed in Administrative Policy 091 – 
Local Workforce Development Board Composition and Certification);  

c) Appointing members to the LWDB; 
d) Establishing bylaws in coordination with the LWDB;  
e) Designating a fiscal agent (if not serving as grant recipient) and monitoring their 

effectiveness;  
f) Approving the LWDB budget; 
g) Remaining liable for any misuse of WIOA grant funds by the local area;  

https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/PLAW-113publ128/pdf/PLAW-113publ128.pdf
https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/PLAW-113publ128/pdf/PLAW-113publ128.pdf
https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/PLAW-113publ128/pdf/PLAW-113publ128.pdf
https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/PLAW-113publ128/pdf/PLAW-113publ128.pdf
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-20/chapter-V/part-678/subpart-D/section-678.600
https://www.ecfr.gov/cgi-bin/text-idx?SID=347ab3bd845bf353074eecfa6d30ea77&mc=true&node=pt20.4.679&rgn=div5&se20.4.679_1310#se20.4.679_1310
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-20/chapter-V/part-679/subpart-C/section-679.320
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-20/chapter-V/part-679/subpart-C/section-679.370
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-20/chapter-V/part-679/subpart-C/section-679.370
http://www.leg.state.fl.us/statutes/index.cfm?App_mode=Display_Statute&URL=0100-0199/0119/0119ContentsIndex.html&StatuteYear=2023&Title=%2D%3E2023%2D%3EChapter%20119
http://www.leg.state.fl.us/statutes/index.cfm?App_mode=Display_Statute&URL=0100-0199/0119/0119ContentsIndex.html&StatuteYear=2020&Title=%2D%3E2020%2D%3EChapter%20119
http://www.leg.state.fl.us/statutes/index.cfm?App_mode=Display_Statute&URL=0200-0299/0286/0286ContentsIndex.html&StatuteYear=2023&Title=%2D%3E2023%2D%3EChapter%20286
http://www.leg.state.fl.us/statutes/index.cfm?App_mode=Display_Statute&URL=0200-0299/0286/0286ContentsIndex.html&StatuteYear=2020&Title=%2D%3E2020%2D%3EChapter%20286
http://www.leg.state.fl.us/statutes/index.cfm?App_mode=Display_Statute&URL=0400-0499/0445/0445ContentsIndex.html&StatuteYear=2023&Title=%2D%3E2023%2D%3EChapter%20445
https://careersourceflorida.com/wp-content/uploads/2023/09/Education-and-Industry-Consortiums-Strategic-Policy.pdf
https://careersourceflorida.com/wp-content/uploads/2023/09/Education-and-Industry-Consortiums-Strategic-Policy.pdf
https://careersourceflorida.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/Board-Governance-and-Leadership-Policy.pdf
https://careersourceflorida.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/Board-Governance-and-Leadership-Policy.pdf
https://careersourceflorida.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/Board-Governance-and-Leadership-Policy.pdf
https://careersourceflorida.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/Board-Governance-and-Leadership-Policy.pdf
https://careersourceflorida.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/Board-Governance-and-Leadership-Policy.pdf
https://careersourceflorida.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/09_CSF-Ethics-and-Transparency-Policy-FINAL.pdf
https://careersourceflorida.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/09_CSF-Ethics-and-Transparency-Policy-FINAL.pdf
https://careersourceflorida.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/09_CSF-Ethics-and-Transparency-Policy-FINAL.pdf
https://careersourceflorida.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/09_CSF-Ethics-and-Transparency-Policy-FINAL.pdf
http://www.floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2017-guidance-papers/localareadesignatn-ap94.pdf?sfvrsn=2e3770b0_4
https://floridajobs.org/local-workforce-development-board-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers
http://www.floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2017-guidance-papers/localareadesignatn-ap94.pdf?sfvrsn=2e3770b0_4
http://www.floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2017-guidance-papers/localareadesignatn-ap94.pdf?sfvrsn=2e3770b0_4
http://www.floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2017-guidance-papers/localareadesignatn-ap94.pdf?sfvrsn=2e3770b0_4
http://www.floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2017-guidance-papers/localareadesignatn-ap94.pdf?sfvrsn=2e3770b0_4
http://www.floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2017-guidance-papers/localareadesignatn-ap94.pdf?sfvrsn=2e3770b0_4
http://www.floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2017-guidance-papers/localareadesignatn-ap94.pdf?sfvrsn=2e3770b0_4
http://www.floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2017-guidance-papers/localareadesignatn-ap94.pdf?sfvrsn=2e3770b0_4
http://www.floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2017-guidance-papers/localareadesignatn-ap94.pdf?sfvrsn=2e3770b0_4
http://floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2021-guidance-papers/adminpolicy091_wioa-lwdb-composition-and-certification---final-01072021.pdf?sfvrsn=adb94db0_2
https://floridajobs.org/local-workforce-development-board-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers
http://floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2021-guidance-papers/adminpolicy091_wioa-lwdb-composition-and-certification---final-01072021.pdf?sfvrsn=adb94db0_2
http://floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2021-guidance-papers/adminpolicy091_wioa-lwdb-composition-and-certification---final-01072021.pdf?sfvrsn=adb94db0_2
http://floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2021-guidance-papers/adminpolicy091_wioa-lwdb-composition-and-certification---final-01072021.pdf?sfvrsn=adb94db0_2
http://floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2021-guidance-papers/adminpolicy091_wioa-lwdb-composition-and-certification---final-01072021.pdf?sfvrsn=adb94db0_2
http://floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2021-guidance-papers/adminpolicy091_wioa-lwdb-composition-and-certification---final-01072021.pdf?sfvrsn=adb94db0_2
http://floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2021-guidance-papers/adminpolicy091_wioa-lwdb-composition-and-certification---final-01072021.pdf?sfvrsn=adb94db0_2
http://floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2021-guidance-papers/adminpolicy091_wioa-lwdb-composition-and-certification---final-01072021.pdf?sfvrsn=adb94db0_2
http://floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2021-guidance-papers/adminpolicy091_wioa-lwdb-composition-and-certification---final-01072021.pdf?sfvrsn=adb94db0_2
http://floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2021-guidance-papers/adminpolicy091_wioa-lwdb-composition-and-certification---final-01072021.pdf?sfvrsn=adb94db0_2
http://floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2021-guidance-papers/adminpolicy091_wioa-lwdb-composition-and-certification---final-01072021.pdf?sfvrsn=adb94db0_2


Local Workforce Development Area and Board Governance 
Policy Number 110 

Page 3 of 23 
 

h) In coordination with the LWDB and/or staff to the board, negotiating and 
reaching agreement on LWDB local performance measures with 
FloridaCommerce;  

i) Negotiating with the LWDB and required partners to maintain the workforce 
delivery system through the Memorandum of Understanding (as prescribed in 
Administrative Policy 106 - Memorandums of Understanding and 
Infrastructure Funding Agreements);  

j) Partnering with the LWDB and planning region, to develop and submit the 
WIOA local plan and regional plan; and 

k) Reviewing the annual performance review of the LWDB executive director. 
 
CLEOs who are not active members of LWDBs are encouraged to participate in 
meetings of the local board. Additionally, CLEOs are strongly encouraged to attend 
new LWDB member orientation and annual training, in accordance with Section 
IV. I of this policy. 
 
The CLEO may delegate the listed responsibilities except: 
a) Appointment of members to the LWDB.  
b) Designation of a fiscal agent (designation of a fiscal agent does not relieve the 

CLEO or Governor of liability for misuse of grant funds – 20 CFR 679.420).  
c) Liability for any misuse of WIOA grant funds by the local area. 
 
The CLEO may remove a member of the LWDB, the executive director of the 
LWDB, or the designated person responsible for the operational and administrative 
function of the LWDB for cause.1

  

2. Fiscal Agent 

The fiscal agent is the entity designated by the CLEO to perform accounting and 
funds management on behalf of the CLEO. The duties of the fiscal agent  include 
but are not limited to:  
a) Receiving funds;  
b) Ensuring sustained fiscal integrity and accountability for expenditures of funds 

in accordance with the Office of Management and Budget’s (OMB) Uniform 
Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for 
Federal Awards (commonly called “Uniform Guidance”) and applicable 
circulars, WIOA, corresponding federal regulations, state law, and state 
policies;  

c) Responding to audit financial findings;  
d) Maintaining proper accounting records and documentation;  
e) Preparing financial reports; and,  
f) Providing technical assistance to subrecipients regarding fiscal issues.  

 
1 Section 445.007(2)(c)  

http://floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2020-guidance-papers/adminpolicy106_mous-and-ifas---final.pdf?sfvrsn=c88743b0_2
http://floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2020-guidance-papers/adminpolicy106_mous-and-ifas---final.pdf?sfvrsn=c88743b0_2
https://floridajobs.org/local-workforce-development-board-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers
http://floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2020-guidance-papers/adminpolicy106_mous-and-ifas---final.pdf?sfvrsn=c88743b0_2
http://floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2020-guidance-papers/adminpolicy106_mous-and-ifas---final.pdf?sfvrsn=c88743b0_2
http://floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2020-guidance-papers/adminpolicy106_mous-and-ifas---final.pdf?sfvrsn=c88743b0_2
http://floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2020-guidance-papers/adminpolicy106_mous-and-ifas---final.pdf?sfvrsn=c88743b0_2
http://floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2020-guidance-papers/adminpolicy106_mous-and-ifas---final.pdf?sfvrsn=c88743b0_2
http://floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2020-guidance-papers/adminpolicy106_mous-and-ifas---final.pdf?sfvrsn=c88743b0_2
http://floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2020-guidance-papers/adminpolicy106_mous-and-ifas---final.pdf?sfvrsn=c88743b0_2
http://floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2020-guidance-papers/adminpolicy106_mous-and-ifas---final.pdf?sfvrsn=c88743b0_2
http://floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2020-guidance-papers/adminpolicy106_mous-and-ifas---final.pdf?sfvrsn=c88743b0_2
https://www.ecfr.gov/cgi-bin/text-idx?node=pt20.4.679&rgn=div5#se20.4.679_1420
https://www.ecfr.gov/cgi-bin/text-idx?node=pt20.4.679&rgn=div5#se20.4.679_1420
https://www.ecfr.gov/cgi-bin/text-idx?node=pt20.4.679&rgn=div5#se20.4.679_1420
https://www.ecfr.gov/cgi-bin/text-idx?node=pt20.4.679&rgn=div5#se20.4.679_1420
https://www.ecfr.gov/cgi-bin/text-idx?node=pt20.4.679&rgn=div5#se20.4.679_1420


Local Workforce Development Area and Board Governance 
Policy Number 110 

Page 4 of 23 
 

Although the appropriate role of the fiscal agent should be limited to accounting 
and funds management functions rather than policy or service delivery, there may 
be circumstances in which the fiscal agent may be the LWDB, the procured one- 
stop operator, the workforce services provider, and/or youth service provider.  
At the direction of the LWDB, the fiscal agent may have the following additional 
functions:  
a) Procuring contracts or obtain written agreements;  
b) Conducting financial monitoring of service providers; and  
c) Ensuring an independent audit is conducted of all employment and training 

programs.  
The fiscal agent must provide financial reports to the LWDB and CLEO at least 
quarterly. 

3. Local Workforce Development Board  

The LWDB is appointed by the CLEO in each local area in accordance with state 
criteria established under WIOA sec. 107(b) and certified by the Governor every 
two years in accordance with WIOA sec. 107(c)(2). The state’s criteria for LWDB 
certification are found in Administrative Policy 091 – Local Workforce 
Development Board Composition and Certification. 

The LWDB provides strategic and operational oversight, assists in achievement of 
the state’s strategic and operational vision and goals, and maximizes and continues 
to improve quality of services, customer satisfaction, and effectiveness of services 
provided. LWDB responsibilities include, but are not limited to:  
a) Developing and submitting a four-year local plan and regional plan;  
b) Conducting workforce research and regional labor market analysis;  
c) Convening local workforce development system stakeholders to assist in the 

development of the local plan and in identifying expertise and resources to 
leverage support for workforce development activities;  

d) Leading efforts to engage employers, a wide range of representatives of 
industry, government, education, and workforce training in the local area;  

e) Leading efforts to develop and implement career pathways;  
f) Leading efforts to identify and promote proven and promising strategies and 

initiatives for meeting the needs of employers, workers, and jobseekers;  
g) Developing strategies for using technology to maximize the accessibility and 

effectiveness of the local workforce development system for employers, 
workers, and job seekers; 

h) In partnership with the CLEO, conducting oversight of the WIOA adult, 
dislocated worker, and youth programs and the entire local workforce delivery 
system, ensuring the appropriate use and management of WIOA funds, and 
ensuring the appropriate use, management and investment of funds to maximize 
performance outcomes;  

https://floridajobs.org/local-workforce-development-board-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers
http://floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2021-guidance-papers/adminpolicy091_wioa-lwdb-composition-and-certification---final-01072021.pdf?sfvrsn=adb94db0_2
http://floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2021-guidance-papers/adminpolicy091_wioa-lwdb-composition-and-certification---final-01072021.pdf?sfvrsn=adb94db0_2
http://floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2021-guidance-papers/adminpolicy091_wioa-lwdb-composition-and-certification---final-01072021.pdf?sfvrsn=adb94db0_2
http://floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2021-guidance-papers/adminpolicy091_wioa-lwdb-composition-and-certification---final-01072021.pdf?sfvrsn=adb94db0_2
http://floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2021-guidance-papers/adminpolicy091_wioa-lwdb-composition-and-certification---final-01072021.pdf?sfvrsn=adb94db0_2
http://floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2021-guidance-papers/adminpolicy091_wioa-lwdb-composition-and-certification---final-01072021.pdf?sfvrsn=adb94db0_2
http://floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2021-guidance-papers/adminpolicy091_wioa-lwdb-composition-and-certification---final-01072021.pdf?sfvrsn=adb94db0_2
http://floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2021-guidance-papers/adminpolicy091_wioa-lwdb-composition-and-certification---final-01072021.pdf?sfvrsn=adb94db0_2


Local Workforce Development Area and Board Governance 
Policy Number 110 

Page 5 of 23 
 

i) Negotiating and reaching agreement on local performance measures with the 
CLEO and FloridaCommerce;  

j) Negotiating with the CLEO and required partners on the methods for funding 
the infrastructure costs of one-stop centers in the local area in accordance with 
20 CFR 678.715 and Administrative Policy 106 – Memorandums of 
Understanding and Infrastructure Funding Agreements; 

k) Selecting providers of youth workforce investment activities through 
competitive grants or contracts in accordance with Administrative Policy 120 – 
Youth Service Provider Selection; providers of training services consistent with 
state policy and WIOA sec. 122; providers of career services through the awards 
of contracts in accordance with Administrative Policy 083 – Direct Provider of 
Workforce Services; and one-stop operators in accordance with 20 CFR 
678.600 through 20 CFR 678.635 and Administrative Policy 097 – One-Stop 
Operator Procurement;2  

l) Working with the state to ensure there are sufficient numbers and types of 
providers of career services and training services serving the local area and 
providing the services in a manner that maximizes consumer choice, as well as 
providing opportunities that lead to competitive integrated employment for 
individuals with disabilities; 

m) Coordinating activities with education and training providers in the local area; 
n) Developing a budget for the activities of the LWDB, with approval of the CLEO 

and consistent with the four-year local plan and the duties of the LWDB; 
o) Assessing, on an annual basis, the physical and programmatic accessibility of 

all career centers in the local area, in accordance with WIOA sec. 188, if 
applicable, and applicable provisions of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 
1990 (42 U.S.C. 12101 et seq.);  

p) Certifying the local area’s career centers in accordance with 20 CFR 678.800 
and Administrative Policy 093 – One-Stop Delivery System and One-Stop 
Center Certification Requirements; 

q) Concluding agreements necessary to designate the fiscal agent and 
administrative entity. A public or private entity, including an entity established 
under section 163.01, F.S. which makes a majority of the appointments to a 
local board may serve as the local board’s administrative entity if approved by 
FloridaCommerce based upon a showing that a fair and competitive process 
was used to select the administrative entity;3 

r) Providing ongoing oversight related to administrative costs, duplicated 
services, career counseling, economic development, equal access, compliance 
and accountability, and performance outcomes;4 

s) Overseeing the one-stop delivery system in its local area;5 

 
2 In accordance with section 445.007(6), F.S., consistent with federal and state law, LWDBs must designate 
all local service providers and may not transfer this authority to a third party. 
3 Section 445.007(4)(b).  
4 Section 445.007(4)(c). 
5 Section 445.007(4)(d). 

https://floridajobs.org/local-workforce-development-board-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers
https://floridajobs.org/local-workforce-development-board-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers
https://floridajobs.org/local-workforce-development-board-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers
https://floridajobs.org/local-workforce-development-board-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers
https://floridajobs.org/local-workforce-development-board-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers
https://floridajobs.org/local-workforce-development-board-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers
https://floridajobs.org/local-workforce-development-board-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers
https://floridajobs.org/local-workforce-development-board-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers
https://floridajobs.org/local-workforce-development-board-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers
https://floridajobs.org/local-workforce-development-board-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers


Local Workforce Development Area and Board Governance 
Policy Number 110 

Page 6 of 23 
 

t) In partnership with the CLEO, establishing bylaws and codes of conduct for 
LWDB members, as well as the LWDB executive director and LWDB staff; 

u) Establishing additional monitoring and reporting requirements, if one entity 
fulfills multiple functions, to ensure the entity is compliant with WIOA, final 
rules and regulations, OMB Uniform Guidance and applicable circulars, and 
the state’s conflict of interest policy; and  

v) Completing new LWDB member orientation and annual training requirements 
within the required timeframes, in accordance with Section IV. I of this policy. 

A full list of LWDB functions can be found in WIOA sec. 107(d), 20 CFR 679.370 
and section 445.007, F.S. 

4. Local Workforce Development Board Chairperson  

Each LWDB must elect a chairperson to direct the business of the local board. The 
chairperson is elected by the members of the LWDB and must be one of the 
business representatives on the local board. The chairperson may serve no more 
than two terms in this position; each term may not exceed two years. Additionally, 
the chairperson may not simultaneously act as the employed chief executive officer 
or chief financial officer of any local workforce development board or career center 
while in position as the chairperson. 

At a minimum, FloridaCommerce will review the chairperson’s term requirements 
during the LWDB’s certification process as described in Administrative Policy 091 
– Local Workforce Development Board Composition and Certification. In addition, 
FloridaCommerce will review each LWDB’s composition during its annual 
programmatic monitoring, which may also include a review of the chairperson’s 
term(s). 

The chairperson’s duties include but are not limited to: 
 
a) Leading the board to develop a guiding vision that aligns with the state’s 

priorities;  
b) Acting as the lead strategic convener to promote and broker effective 

relationships between CLEOs and economic development, education, and 
workforce partners in the local area;  

c) Leading an executive committee to guide the work of the board, and ensure that 
committees or task forces have necessary leadership and membership to 
perform the work of the board;  

d) Leading the agenda setting process for the year and guiding meetings, ensuring 
both tactical and strategic work is completed in all meetings;   

e) Appointing members to the Education and Industry Consortium;  
f) Providing the annual performance review of the LWDB executive director to 

the CLEO(s) and at least once annually to the LWDB, and upon request of the 
LWDB; and 

https://www.ecfr.gov/cgi-bin/text-idx?node=pt20.4.679&rgn=div5#se20.4.679_1370
http://floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2021-guidance-papers/ap091_lwdb-compcertificn---final-07012021.pdf?sfvrsn=b2004eb0_2
https://floridajobs.org/local-workforce-development-board-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers
https://floridajobs.org/local-workforce-development-board-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers
http://floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2021-guidance-papers/ap091_lwdb-compcertificn---final-07012021.pdf?sfvrsn=b2004eb0_2


Local Workforce Development Area and Board Governance 
Policy Number 110 

Page 7 of 23 
 

g) Appearing before the state workforce development board (state board) to 
discuss the performance of the LWDB, upon the request of the state board. 

5. Local Workforce Development Board Executives  

The LWDB may hire a qualified executive director and staff to assist in ensuring 
the functions of the local board are achieved. The LWDB must ensure the 
individual or entity designated as the executive director has the requisite 
knowledge, skills, and abilities to meet identified benchmarks and to assist in 
effectively and ethically carrying out the functions of the LWDB which include, 
but is not limited to: 

a) Coordinating with the CLEO(s) regarding the identification and nomination of 
members to the LWDB and ensuring membership is compliant with WIOA and 
Florida Statutes; 

b) Organizing local board meetings and ensuring meetings are held according to 
the LWDB’s bylaws and Florida’s sunshine laws; 

c) Developing and submitting the local and regional plan; 
d) Conducting oversight of the WIOA adult, dislocated worker, youth programs 

and the entire one-stop delivery system, including development of policies and 
monitoring the administration of the programs; 

e) Negotiating and reaching agreement on local performance measures with the 
CLEO and FloridaCommerce; 

f) Ensuring the outcomes of local performance measures are provided to the 
LWDB members and CLEO no less than semi-annually. 

g) Negotiating with CLEO and required partners for the Memorandum of 
Understanding (as prescribed in Administrative Policy 106 - Memorandums of 
Understanding and Infrastructure Funding Agreements); 

h) In compliance with local board procurement policy, provide oversight of the 
competitive procurement process for procuring or awarding contracts for 
providers of youth program services, providers of workforce services (if 
applicable), and the one-stop operator as required in paragraph (i) of 20 CFR 
679.370; 

i) Developing a budget for activities of the LWDBs;  
j) Certifying the one-stop career centers. One-stop certification requirements may 

be found in Administrative Policy 93 – One-Stop Career Center Certification 
Requirements; and 

k) Providing copies of all monitoring and audit reports and related materials to the 
LWDB members, LWDB chairperson, and CLEO within five business days of 
receipt. 

 Executive directors, chief financial officers, and chief operating officers who 
represent a LWDB may not personally contract with or otherwise represent more 
than one LWDB. Under extraordinary circumstances, LWDBs may request 
approval for a temporary exception to this prohibition from the state board and 

http://floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2020-guidance-papers/adminpolicy106_mous-and-ifas---final.pdf?sfvrsn=c88743b0_2
http://floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2020-guidance-papers/adminpolicy106_mous-and-ifas---final.pdf?sfvrsn=c88743b0_2
http://floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2020-guidance-papers/adminpolicy106_mous-and-ifas---final.pdf?sfvrsn=c88743b0_2
http://floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2020-guidance-papers/adminpolicy106_mous-and-ifas---final.pdf?sfvrsn=c88743b0_2
http://floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2020-guidance-papers/adminpolicy106_mous-and-ifas---final.pdf?sfvrsn=c88743b0_2
http://floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2020-guidance-papers/adminpolicy106_mous-and-ifas---final.pdf?sfvrsn=c88743b0_2
http://floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2020-guidance-papers/adminpolicy106_mous-and-ifas---final.pdf?sfvrsn=c88743b0_2
http://floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2020-guidance-papers/adminpolicy106_mous-and-ifas---final.pdf?sfvrsn=c88743b0_2
http://www.floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/2017-guidance-papers/oscc_certification-ap93.pdf?sfvrsn=4
http://www.floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/2017-guidance-papers/oscc_certification-ap93.pdf?sfvrsn=4
http://www.floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/2017-guidance-papers/oscc_certification-ap93.pdf?sfvrsn=4
http://www.floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/2017-guidance-papers/oscc_certification-ap93.pdf?sfvrsn=4
http://www.floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/2017-guidance-papers/oscc_certification-ap93.pdf?sfvrsn=4
http://www.floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/2017-guidance-papers/oscc_certification-ap93.pdf?sfvrsn=4
http://www.floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/2017-guidance-papers/oscc_certification-ap93.pdf?sfvrsn=4
http://www.floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/2017-guidance-papers/oscc_certification-ap93.pdf?sfvrsn=4
http://www.floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/2017-guidance-papers/oscc_certification-ap93.pdf?sfvrsn=4


Local Workforce Development Area and Board Governance 
Policy Number 110 

Page 8 of 23 
 

FloridaCommerce by emailing the request to FloridaCommerce at 
LWDBGovernance@commerce.fl.gov.  

  Chief executive officers, chief operating officers, and chief financial officers may 
not simultaneously act as members of any LWDB. 

 
6. One-Stop Operator 

 
The one-stop operator is the entity or consortium of entities that coordinates service 
delivery of required one-stop partners and service providers. WIOA requires 
LWDBs to use a competitive procurement process to select its one-stop operator 
and to competitively reprocure these services every four years, in accordance with 
WIOA sec. 121(d) and 20 CFR 678.600 through 678.635. See Administrative 
Policy 097 – One-Stop Operator Procurement for the requirements LWDBs must 
follow to select one-stop operators.  
 

7. Provider of Workforce Services 
 
LWDBs are required to select the provider of basic and individualized career 
services (also referred to as “workforce services”) and have the option of being 
direct providers of workforce services or awarding grants or contracts for these 
services. WIOA allows LWDBs to be direct providers of workforce services with 
the agreement of the CLEO in the local area, LWDB, and the Governor. See 
Administrative Policy 083 – Direct Provider of Workforce Services for the 
requirements LWDBs must follow to serve as direct providers of workforce 
services. 
  

8. Youth Service Provider 
 
LWDBs are required to select providers of youth workforce services through 
competitive grants or contracts. LWDBs have the option of directly providing some 
or all youth workforce services rather than awarding grants or contracts for these 
services. LWDBs that choose to award grants or contracts for youth workforce 
services must do so through a competitive procurement process in accordance with  
WIOA sec. 123 and 20 CFR 681.400. See Administrative Policy 120 – Youth 
Service Provider Selection for the requirements LWDBs must follow to select 
youth service providers. 

B. One Entity Performing Multiple Functions 

WIOA establishes clear roles and responsibilities for each entity or organization 
involved in the workforce delivery system. The LWDB must ensure that roles and 
duties of workforce delivery system entities are clearly delineated. This includes efforts 
to designate and/or procure the functions of the fiscal agent, staff to the LWDB, one-

mailto:LWDBGovernance@commerce.fl.gov
https://floridajobs.org/local-workforce-development-board-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers
https://floridajobs.org/local-workforce-development-board-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers
https://floridajobs.org/local-workforce-development-board-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers
https://floridajobs.org/local-workforce-development-board-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers
https://floridajobs.org/local-workforce-development-board-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers


Local Workforce Development Area and Board Governance 
Policy Number 110 

Page 9 of 23 
 

stop operator, direct provider of workforce services, and provider of youth program 
services. 
One entity may perform multiple functions if appropriate firewalls and internal controls 
are in place. Local entities or organizations often function simultaneously in a variety 
of roles, including fiscal agent, staff to the LWDB, one-stop operator, provider of 
workforce services, and provider of youth program services.  
See Section IV.D. for requirements for LWDBs serving multiple functions. 

C. Local Workforce Development Boards as Direct Providers of Workforce Services 

Ideally, entities providing workforce services are procured through the LWDB, which 
is responsible for monitoring and overseeing the contracts, as well as services 
performed through the contract. The LWDB is designed to oversee the workforce 
delivery system and its services. Chapter 445.007(6), F.S. allows LWDBs to be 
designated as the one-stop operator and direct provider of services (except training 
services), with the agreement of the CLEO and the state board (as delegated by the 
Governor) based on the criteria established by the state board. 

LWDBs seeking to provide workforce services, except training services, will follow 
the requirements established in Administrative Policy 083 – Direct Provider of 
Workforce Services. 

LWDBs seeking designation as the one-stop operator, must comply with the criteria 
prescribed in this administrative policy and Administrative Policy 097 – One-Stop 
Operator Procurement.  

D. Local Workforce Development Boards Serving Multiple Functions 

Consistent with WIOA sec. 121(d)(4)(A) and (C), LWDBs selected to perform multiple 
functions in a local area must develop a written agreement with the CLEO to clarify 
how the LWDB will carry out its responsibilities while demonstrating compliance with 
WIOA and corresponding regulations, the Uniform Guidance, and conflict of interest 
policies of both the State and LWDB. (See TEGL 15-16, Section 11. Avoiding 
Conflicts of Interest.).  

LWDBs serving multiple functions must be able to demonstrate that roles, 
responsibilities and duties of each function are clearly defined and delineated in locally 
established processes and procedures that clearly detail: 

a) How functions are sufficiently separated; 
b) Descriptions of the steps the local area has taken to mitigate risks that could 

lead to impropriety; 
c) Firewalls (physical, technological, policies, etc.) created to ensure such risks 

are mitigated; and 
d) Oversight and monitoring procedures. 

http://www.floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2017-guidance-papers/adminpol083_wioa-dirsvcprovider.pdf?sfvrsn=351c4db0_2
https://floridajobs.org/local-workforce-development-board-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers
http://www.floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2017-guidance-papers/adminpol083_wioa-dirsvcprovider.pdf?sfvrsn=351c4db0_2
http://www.floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2017-guidance-papers/adminpol083_wioa-dirsvcprovider.pdf?sfvrsn=351c4db0_2
http://www.floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2017-guidance-papers/adminpol083_wioa-dirsvcprovider.pdf?sfvrsn=351c4db0_2
http://www.floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2017-guidance-papers/adminpol083_wioa-dirsvcprovider.pdf?sfvrsn=351c4db0_2
http://www.floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2017-guidance-papers/adminpol083_wioa-dirsvcprovider.pdf?sfvrsn=351c4db0_2
http://www.floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2017-guidance-papers/adminpol083_wioa-dirsvcprovider.pdf?sfvrsn=351c4db0_2
https://floridajobs.org/local-workforce-development-board-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers
https://floridajobs.org/local-workforce-development-board-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers
http://www.floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2017-guidance-papers/adminpol097_onestopprocurement_final_9252017.pdf?sfvrsn=2acd72b0_6


Local Workforce Development Area and Board Governance 
Policy Number 110 

Page 10 of 23 
 

These processes and procedures must be included in the LWDB’s WIOA Local Plan. 
 

E. Temporary Assumption of Duties for Procured and Contracted Services 

In certain critical circumstances, (e.g., sudden termination of contract or failed 
procurement), the LWDB may be faced with the need to temporarily assume the role(s) 
of one-stop operator, direct provider of workforce services, and/or youth program 
service provider. When this happens for the one-stop operator or workforce services, 
LWDBs may request to temporarily assume the responsibilities that were being 
provided by a contracted vendor or services being sought when the procurement failed. 
Requests for LWDBs to act as a one-stop operator and/or provider of workforce 
services on a time-limited and temporary basis6 must be approved by the CLEO and 
submitted to FloridaCommerce. The request must include the duration (six months or 
less) for which the LWDB will act as a one-stop operator or provider of workforce 
services. Upon receipt of the request, FloridaCommerce will review for compliance 
with applicable governing authorities and make a recommendation for consideration 
by the state board. The LWDB must begin the competitive procurement process within 
30 days of approval to serve in a temporary capacity. Should the LWDB desire to serve 
as the one-stop operator, the LWDB must participate in the competitive procurement 
process as prescribed in Administrative Policy 091 – One-Stop Operator Procurement. 

When this happens for youth workforce services, the LWDB is not required to submit 
a request to FloridaCommerce to assume these responsibilities. However, the LWDB 
must adhere to the requirements in Section IV. D. of this policy when the LWDB serves 
multiple functions. 

1. Sudden Termination of Contract 

In the event of a sudden termination of contract, the LWDB must submit a formal 
request to serve in the capacity of the role in which the contract was terminated. 

The LWDB will: 

a) Submit a request to serve in the role in which the contract was terminated; 
b) Provide documentation of the original contract and the termination notification, 

which should include the reason for termination; 
c) Provide an explanation and an organizational chart showing who will be 

responsible for assuming the role(s) temporarily. The explanation and 
organizational chart must clearly illustrate how the following will be enforced 
to minimize potential risks associated with the temporary designation. 

 
1) Separation of duties; (including but not limited to the temporary removal of 

duties from certain areas/individuals to allow assumption of the temporary 
role); 

 
6 In this context, temporary is defined as six months or less. 

https://floridajobs.org/local-workforce-development-board-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers


Local Workforce Development Area and Board Governance 
Policy Number 110 

Page 11 of 23 
 

2) Firewalls; (including but not limited to restriction from access to any 
information that may lead to impropriety); and  

3) Conflict of interest requirements.  
 

d) The length of time in which the LWDB seeks to temporarily serve in the role in 
which the contract was terminated, not to exceed six months from the date of 
request. 

LWDBs will submit formal requests for temporary designation to 
FloridaCommerce via email to LWDBGovernance@commerce.fl.gov. 

2. Failed Procurement 

In the event of a failed procurement, the LWDB must submit a formal request to 
serve in the capacity of the role for which the procurement failed and provide the 
following: 

a) A copy of the competitive solicitation; 
b) Proof of the announcement medium used (e.g., newspaper, social media, 

website, email notification to potential bidders), including documentation 
showing how long the announcement was posted; and 

c) The length of time the LWDB seeks to temporarily serve in the role. 
d) An explanation and an organizational chart showing who will temporarily 

be responsible for assuming the role(s). The explanation and organizational 
chart will clearly illustrate how the following will be enforced to minimize 
potential risks associated with the temporary designation. 

 
1) Separation of duties; (including but not limited to the temporary 

removal of duties from certain areas/individuals to allow assumption of 
the temporary role); 

2) Firewalls; (including but not limited to restriction from access to any 
information that may lead to impropriety); and  

3) Conflict of interest requirements. 
 

Additionally, the LWDB will: 
 

a) Review the previously issued competitive solicitation and identify any 
elements that led to the failed procurement (e.g., unrealistic compensation 
for requested services, duties outside the scope of the role for which services 
are being sought); 

b) Update and reissue the competitive solicitation (within 30 days of being 
granted temporary authority to serve in the role in which the procurement 
was not successful); 

mailto:LWDBGovernance@commerce.fl.gov


Local Workforce Development Area and Board Governance 
Policy Number 110 

Page 12 of 23 
 

c) Notify FloridaCommerce of the selection upon final approval by the LWDB 
once an entity is selected; and 

d) Onboard the selected entity of the new solicitation on or before the end of 
the temporary designation. 
 

The individual or entity contracted to fulfill the role of the LWDB executive 
director must not be the one-stop operator or the provider of workforce and/or youth 
program services.  
 
LWDBs will submit formal requests for temporary designation to 
FloridaCommerce via email to LWDBGovernance@commerce.fl.gov.    

 
3. Local Workforce Development Area Multi-Function Agreement  

 
For circumstances in which an entity or organization, other than the LWDB, has 
been selected or otherwise designated to perform more than one function, the 
required contract or written agreement must include a clause to clarify how the 
entity will carry out its responsibilities while demonstrating compliance with 
WIOA and corresponding regulations, relevant OMB circulars, and the state's 
conflict of interest policy. The written clause in the contract or agreement must 
include, at a minimum, the following requirements: 
 
a) Definition of roles and responsibilities/duties per function (e.g., fiscal agent, 

one-stop operator, and/or procured provider of workforce or youth program 
services); 

b) Description of the separation of staff duties under each role, including 
deliverables for each separate function; 

c) Description of how budget authority is separated, including separate line-item 
budgets for each function;  

d) Description of how staff duties will be completed while demonstrating 
compliance with WIOA and corresponding regulations, OMB circulars, and the 
state's conflict of interest policy, including how conflict of interest will be 
minimized; 

e) Description of the roles and responsibilities within the organization, including 
an organizational chart, and sustainability if a function is removed; and 

f) Description of how fiscal monitoring will occur if the fiscal agent is performing 
multiple functions. 

The written clauses in the agreement are intended to limit conflicts of interest or 
the appearance thereof, minimize fiscal risk, and develop appropriate firewalls 
within a single entity performing multiple functions. 

mailto:LWDBGovernance@deo.myflorida.com


Local Workforce Development Area and Board Governance 
Policy Number 110 

Page 13 of 23 
 
F. Governance Agreements 

Implementation of a local workforce development system pursuant to WIOA requires 
CLEOs to play an active role in both strategic planning and ongoing operation of the 
local workforce development system. When a local area includes more than one unit of 
general local government, the chief elected officials of such units may execute a written 
agreement that specifies the respective roles and liability of the individual CLEOs. 
CLEOs are liable in their official capacity but not personally liable for the misuse of 
WIOA funds. 

 
1. Interlocal, Consortium, and Other Agreements 

 
The purpose of having interlocal, consortium, or other governing agreements is to 
ensure the decisions that are delegated to CLEO(s), or a consortium, reflect the 
agreement of all the chief elected officials in all jurisdictions of a local area and 
consistent with requirements established in section 163.01, F.S. These agreements 
are between the chief elected officials of each jurisdiction within the local area and 
must contain signatures of the representative(s) authorized to enter into such 
agreements. 

 
The interlocal or consortium agreement will clearly state the level of agreement to 
be reached amongst the governmental entities involved and identify the roles and 
responsibilities of the CLEOs within the local area. At a minimum, applicable 
agreements will address: 
 
a) Identification of local workforce development area - The agreement will 

clearly identify the units of local government which are covered by the 
agreement and which make up the local area. 
 

b) Designation and responsibilities of the CLEO - The parties to the interlocal 
agreement should identify the county commissioners and/or mayors to serve as 
the CLEO(s) of the local area for the purposes of approving local and, if 
appropriate, regional plans; establishing policy; authorizing WIOA 
expenditures; establishing contracts; paying for services outside of the local 
area; or paying costs associated with monitoring or audit findings or sanctions. 

 
Areas where a consortium is serving in the capacity to perform the duties and 
functions of the CLEO will describe the duties/responsibilities of the 
consortium, members that make up the consortium, and the authority of its 
members in an agreement signed by the applicable elected officials or their 
authorized designee.  
 



Local Workforce Development Area and Board Governance 
Policy Number 110 

Page 14 of 23 
 

c) Establishment, appointment, and operation of the LWDB - The agreement 
should include an agreed upon process for establishing and appointing the 
LWDB members, including: 

 
1) Membership of the LWDB that is consistent with WIOA and state policy; 

and 
2) How the needs of all geographical areas in all jurisdictions will be 

represented within the local area. 
3) Development of a process for all CLEOs to participate in the LWDB 

membership appointment process to ensure appropriate and equitable 
representation from all counties included in the local area and reflect the 
representation in interlocal, consortium, and/or other agreements. 

 
The following questions including, but not limited to, may be used to guide 
such discussions: 
 
1) How many members should represent each county in the local area? 
2) Should county population be considered when determining LWDB member 

representation?  
3) What is the appropriate level of financial responsibility for each county and 

should the financial responsibility be factored into the LWDB member 
representation? 

 
d) Designation and responsibilities of the fiscal agent - The agreement will 

identify the entity performing these duties and its responsibilities. 
 

e) Process for CLEOs to provide input - The agreement will include a process 
for all CLEOs to provide input for the purposes of reaching a consensus on 
critical decisions that may impact the local workforce development system.  
 

f) Liability - Under WIOA, CLEOs are liable for misspent funds, disallowed 
costs, funds spent fraudulently, and potential sanctions for nonperformance. 
Therefore, CLEOs within a local area must agree on how liability will be 
addressed. The following questions can be used to guide such discussions: 

 
1) How will sanctions related to performance be shared among the 

jurisdictions within the local area? 
2) How will the issue of disallowed costs or misspent funds that cannot be 

covered by federal grant funds be addressed? 
3) What is each county’s share of the financial responsibility as a percentage 

of the total amount to be repaid? 
 

g) Performance Accountability – Generally, performance accountability is 
addressed in the WIOA local plan. However, CLEOs will agree on an approach 



Local Workforce Development Area and Board Governance 
Policy Number 110 

Page 15 of 23 
 

to performance accountability. The following questions may be used to guide 
such discussions: 

 
1) Who will be responsible for negotiating local performance measures with 

the state (the Executive Director / staff to the board, local board)? 
2) Will the local area have any performance criteria in addition to federal and 

state criteria? How will performance be administratively tracked locally? 
3) Will performance-related incentives be shared among the jurisdictions 

within the local area? 
 

h) Dispute Resolution Process - The governing agreement should include 
provisions for resolving disputes. Below are possible issues to address in the 
agreement relative to dispute resolution: 

 
1) What types of disputes arise to the level of needing a dispute resolution 

process? 
2) What type of dispute resolution process should be used (mediation, 

arbitration, consultation with state, etc.)? 

i) Other Agreement Provisions (Miscellaneous) 
 
1) Duration of the agreement; and 
2) Process for modification or termination of the agreement. 

 
2. Bylaws 

 
Bylaws are the provisions by which the local area is governed and the LWDB and 
its operations are managed. They provide consistency and clarification on the roles 
and responsibilities of the various representatives governing the local workforce 
development system. In partnership with the CLEO, the LWDB must ensure that 
its bylaws are up-to-date and in alignment with requirements of WIOA and state 
policy. At a minimum, the following should be reflected in the local area’s bylaws. 

a) Purpose and Responsibilities (Functions) – Describe the purpose of the 
LWDB (e.g., to set policy and establish oversight of the workforce development 
system). Describe the functions or the responsibilities of the LWDB (e.g., the 
local board has the responsibility to provide strategic and operational oversight, 
assists in achievement of the State's strategic and operational vision and goals, 
and maximizes and continues to improve quality of services, customer 
satisfaction, and effectiveness of services provided). A list of the LWDB’s 
responsibilities can be found in Section IV.A.3. of this policy and 20 CFR 
679.370. 
 

b) Membership – Include the processes and procedures for the following: 



Local Workforce Development Area and Board Governance 
Policy Number 110 

Page 16 of 23 
 

 
1. Recruiting, nominating, vetting, and appointing LWDB members; 
2. Filling LWDB member vacancies; and 
3. Resignation, reasons for disqualification, removal, and reappointment of 

LWDB members. 
 

LWDB membership and composition requirements can be found in 
Administrative Policy 091 - Local Workforce Development Board Composition 
and Certification. 

 
c) Authority of LWDB – Include the power and authorities of the LWDB, 

including authority to recommend, select, and hire an executive director to 
perform operational and administrative functions of the local board. 
 

d) Duties and Terms of the Members – Describe the duties and term limits of 
the LWDB members. LWDB member term limit requirements are prescribed 
in Administrative Policy 091 - Local Workforce Development Board 
Composition and Certification. 
 

e) Officers – Describe the authority of its officers, including terms of office, and 
LWDB officer duties. 
 

f) Committees – Describe the types of committees (e.g. executive committee, 
finance committee, nominating committee, etc.) as well as their authorities, 
responsibilities, terms of committee members and chairpersons, who has the 
authority to appoint committee members, and who may sit on the committees. 
LWDBs must adopt a committee structure consistent with applicable federal 
law and state policies.7 The LWDB will prohibit any LWDB staff from serving 
as members of a LWDB committee or subcommittee. 

 
g) Meetings and Minutes - Describe frequency of meetings and describe how 

regular board and committee meetings are planned and conducted. The LWDB 
will also describe the process and requirements for calling special and 
emergency meetings, what constitutes a special or emergency meeting, and who 
is authorized to call such meetings. This includes but is not limited to the 
requirement to timely provide the meeting schedule to the LWDB members and 
the public. 
 
1. Record Keeping – The LWDB will describe how meeting minutes will be 

scribed/recorded, retain records of local board members who are 
present/absent, and record official acts of the board including the number of 
votes of members (yeas, nays, and abstentions). Meeting minutes must be 

 
7 Section 445.007(7), F.S. 

http://www.floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2021-guidance-papers/adminpolicy091_wioa-lwdb-composition-and-certification---final-01072021.pdf?sfvrsn=adb94db0_2
http://www.floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2021-guidance-papers/adminpolicy091_wioa-lwdb-composition-and-certification---final-01072021.pdf?sfvrsn=adb94db0_2
https://floridajobs.org/local-workforce-development-board-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers
http://www.floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2021-guidance-papers/adminpolicy091_wioa-lwdb-composition-and-certification---final-01072021.pdf?sfvrsn=adb94db0_2
http://www.floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2021-guidance-papers/adminpolicy091_wioa-lwdb-composition-and-certification---final-01072021.pdf?sfvrsn=adb94db0_2
http://www.floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2021-guidance-papers/adminpolicy091_wioa-lwdb-composition-and-certification---final-01072021.pdf?sfvrsn=adb94db0_2
http://www.floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2021-guidance-papers/adminpolicy091_wioa-lwdb-composition-and-certification---final-01072021.pdf?sfvrsn=adb94db0_2
http://www.floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2021-guidance-papers/adminpolicy091_wioa-lwdb-composition-and-certification---final-01072021.pdf?sfvrsn=adb94db0_2
http://www.floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2021-guidance-papers/adminpolicy091_wioa-lwdb-composition-and-certification---final-01072021.pdf?sfvrsn=adb94db0_2
http://www.floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2021-guidance-papers/adminpolicy091_wioa-lwdb-composition-and-certification---final-01072021.pdf?sfvrsn=adb94db0_2
http://www.floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2021-guidance-papers/adminpolicy091_wioa-lwdb-composition-and-certification---final-01072021.pdf?sfvrsn=adb94db0_2
http://www.floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2021-guidance-papers/adminpolicy091_wioa-lwdb-composition-and-certification---final-01072021.pdf?sfvrsn=adb94db0_2
http://www.floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2021-guidance-papers/adminpolicy091_wioa-lwdb-composition-and-certification---final-01072021.pdf?sfvrsn=adb94db0_2
http://www.floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2021-guidance-papers/adminpolicy091_wioa-lwdb-composition-and-certification---final-01072021.pdf?sfvrsn=adb94db0_2


Local Workforce Development Area and Board Governance 
Policy Number 110 

Page 17 of 23 
 

made available publicly on the LWDB’s website within 15 days of approval 
by the LWDB. 
 

2. Voting, Board Actions, and Conflict of Interest – Include voting and 
quorum requirements, record official acts of the LWDB including the 
number of votes of members (yeas, nays, and abstentions). Abstentions due 
to conflict of interest or related party contracts must be recorded, include 
the name of the abstaining member, and the reason for abstention. 

 
LWDBs must include in their board policies the requirement to conduct regular 
performance reviews, at a minimum annually, for the executive director. Performance 
reviews must, at a minimum, include local area performance in the federal and state 
programs administered by the LWDB, and state-issued letter grades. Additionally, 
performance reviews must evaluate the executive director’s effectiveness in: 

 
a) Ensuring workforce investment activities carried out in the local area enable 

the local area to meet the corresponding performance accountability measures 
and achieve fiscal integrity as defined in WIOA sec. 106(e)(2).  

b) Meeting the functions outlined in Section IV.A.5. of this policy.  
 

The annual performance review must be provided to and reviewed by the CLEO(s). 
 
LWDBs must adhere to requirements in the Grantee-Subgrantee Agreement for board 
member conflicts of interest disclosures and applicable requirements. This includes but 
is not limited to the requirement to adopt and abide by a conflict of interest policy that 
ensures compliance with state and federal law, regulations and policies. 
 
While it is preferable that the elements outlined in Section IV.F. of this policy be 
contained in comprehensive documents as described, it is acceptable that the items 
identified in this section be contained in separate agreements (memoranda of 
understanding, governing policies, and procedures, etc.), as long as the requirements of 
this section are clearly met.  
 

G. Education and Industry Consortiums  

Each LWDB must create an education and industry consortium composed of 
representatives of educational entities and businesses in the designated service delivery 
area. Education and industry consortiums in each local area must provide quarterly 
reports to the applicable LWDB which provide community-based information related 
to educational programs and industry needs to assist the LWDB in making decisions 
on programs, services, and partnerships in the service delivery area. The LWDB will 
consider the information obtained from the consortium to determine the most effective 
ways to grow, retain, and attract talent to the service delivery area. The chairperson of 
the LWDB will appoint the consortium members. Consortium members will be 

http://www.floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/deo-lwdb-grantee-subgrantee-agreement/grantee-sub-grantee-agreement---fy21-22-(003).pdf?sfvrsn=69eb4eb0_2
http://www.floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/deo-lwdb-grantee-subgrantee-agreement/grantee-sub-grantee-agreement---fy21-22-(003).pdf?sfvrsn=69eb4eb0_2
http://www.floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/deo-lwdb-grantee-subgrantee-agreement/grantee-sub-grantee-agreement---fy21-22-(003).pdf?sfvrsn=69eb4eb0_2
http://www.floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/deo-lwdb-grantee-subgrantee-agreement/grantee-sub-grantee-agreement---fy21-22-(003).pdf?sfvrsn=69eb4eb0_2


Local Workforce Development Area and Board Governance 
Policy Number 110 

Page 18 of 23 
 

appointed for two-year terms beginning on January 1 of the year of appointment, and 
any vacancy on the consortium must be filled for the remainder of the unexpired term 
in the same manner as the original appointment. Note: A member of a LWDB may not 
serve as a member of the consortium. 
 
Education and industry consortiums are subject to state law and CareerSource Florida 
strategic and administrative policies. 
 

H. WIOA Sunshine Provision, Public Disclosures, and Transparency 

The WIOA “sunshine provision” requires LWDBs to conduct business in an open 
manner and make available, on a regular basis through electronic means and open 
meetings, information about the activities of the LWDB. 
 
In addition to the sunshine provision under WIOA8, LWDBs must comply with and 
adhere to the transparency and public disclosure requirements in section 445.007, F.S. 
as well as requirements detailed in the Grantee-Subgrantee Agreement. Accordingly, 
the following items must be posted to each LWDB’s website: 
 
a) Local Plans – Information about the local plan, or modification of the local plan, 

before submission. 
b) LWDB members – A list of current LWDB members and their affiliation 

(company or entity that the local board member is employed by or owns), and their 
terms of service. 

c) Selection of One-Stop Operators – Information about the activities of the LWDB 
to select a one-stop operator including Request for Proposals, Question and 
Answers, and executed contracts. 

d) Notice of all LWDB meetings – Notification of all LWDB meetings, including 
committee meetings, at least seven days before the meeting is to occur. Notice of 
special or emergency meetings must be posted at least 72 hours before the meeting 
is to occur. 

e) Minutes of formal meetings of the LWDB – Meeting minutes must be made 
available publicly on the LWDB’s website within 15 days of approval by the 
LWDB. The two most recent years of LWDB meeting minutes must be posted. 

f) LWDB Bylaws – The most current version of the LWDB’s bylaws must always be 
publicly available on the LWDB’s website. Changes to the bylaws must be posted 
within 15 days of approval.  

g) Interlocal agreement, as applicable – The most current version of the local area’s 
interlocal agreement must always be publicly available on the LWDB’s website. 

 
8 20 CFR 679.390 



Local Workforce Development Area and Board Governance 
Policy Number 110 

Page 19 of 23 
 

Changes to the interlocal agreement must be posted within 15 days of a new or 
amended agreement being executed by all parties.  

h) Budget - Each LWDB must publish the local board’s budget on its website within 
10 days after approval by FloridaCommerce. The budget must remain published on 
the website for the duration of the fiscal year for which it accounts for the 
expenditure of funds. 

i) Compensation disclosures – The Total Compensation for Executive Leadership 
and Other Specific Employees (Exhibit E of the Grantee-Subgrantee Agreement) 
form must be posted on the local board’s website upon it being submitted to 
FloridaCommerce within 30 days after the end of each LWDB’s fiscal year9 and 
remain posted for three years after it is first published. The disclosures must be 
accompanied by a written declaration provided by the chief financial officer or their 
designee that they have read the compensation disclosure documents and the facts 
stated in it are true. 

j) Employee position and salary information - Current employee positions and 
salary information for each position (including performance bonuses). 

k) LWDB’s IRS Form 990 – Annually, each LWDB must publish its most recent IRS 
form 990 within 60 calendar days after it is filed with the IRS and remain posted 
for three years after it is filed. Tax returns for the three most recent years must be 
posted. 

l) Statements of Financial Interest – The LWDB’s website must inform the public 
that disclosures or statements of financial interest (consistent with requirements in 
section 112.3144, F.S.10 or section 112.3145, F.S.11, whichever is appropriate) for 
each LWDB member and executive director or designated person responsible for 
the operational and administrative functions of the LWDB, have been filed with the 
Commission on Ethics and provide information on how each disclosure or 
statement may be reviewed. The notice to the public must remain on the website 
throughout the term of office or employment of the filer and until one year after the 
term on the LWDB or employment ends. 

m) Single Audit – Must be posted for the two most recent years. 
n) Awards of grants or contracts to eligible training providers of workforce investment 

activities including providers of youth workforce investment activities. 
o) Related Party Contracts – All contracts between a LWDB and a member of the 

LWDB, relative of a LWDB member, an organization or individual represented on 
the LWDB, or an employee of the LWDB approved on or after July 1, 2021, must 
be published on the LWDB’s website within 10 days after approval by the local 
board or FloridaCommerce, whichever is later. Such contracts must remain on the 
website for at least one year after termination of the contract. Such contracts will 
be identified as related party contracts. 

 
9 The disclosure must be posted by July 30th for LWDBs with a June 30th year end and by October 30th for LWDBs with 
a September 30th year end. 
10 Form 6 – Full and Public Disclosure of Financial Interests 
11 Form 1 – Statement of Financial Interests 



Local Workforce Development Area and Board Governance 
Policy Number 110 

Page 20 of 23 
 

p) Contracts in excess of $35,000 – An executed copy of the plain language version 
of any contract that is estimated to exceed $35,000 with a private entity, 
municipality, city, town, or vendor of services, supplies, or programs, including 
marketing, or for the purchase or lease or use of lands, facilities, or properties for 
the five most recent years. 

q) All active agreements with another board that delegate partial or complete 
responsibility for any duties the LWDB is expected, required, or mandated to 
perform under the Grantee-Subgrantee Agreement or WIOA, even if the cost is not 
expected to exceed $35,000. 

 
LWDB members and staff must maintain integrity, accountability and transparency in 
decisions and actions that earn and protect the public trust in compliance with Strategic 
Policy 2018.09.26.A.1 - Ethics and Transparency Policy. This includes taking all 
necessary steps to avoid the appearance of conflicts of interest. 

 
The LWDB is subject to open government and confidentiality requirements in Chapters 
119 and 286, F.S.12 The LWDB must appoint a public records coordinator for the 
purpose of ensuring that all public records matters are handled appropriately. 

 
I. New Board Member Orientation and Annual Training 

Members appointed to the LWDB are required to participate in orientation and annual 
training to ensure they understand the purpose of their participation on the LWDB. The 
purpose of orientation and training is to provide LWDB members with information that 
empowers them to effectively serve as a board member. The LWDB is expected to take 
all reasonable steps necessary to encourage attendance by the CLEO at board member 
orientation and training. 

  
1. New LWDB Member Orientation 

All new LWDB members, within six months of appointment, will complete a new 
board member orientation. The LWDB must develop LWDB member orientation 
for board members, which will cover at a minimum: 

 
a) Overview of WIOA; 
b) Overview of the workforce development system and structure; 
c) The state’s workforce development system goals and strategies; 
d) The purpose of the LWDB; 
e) LWDB composition, including required members and areas of representation; 

 
12 The LWDB is subject to Chapters 119 and 286, F.S. The LWDB is responsible for responding to public records requests 
and subpoenas. The LWDB is responsible for ensuring that its staff and agents have a working knowledge of Chapter 
119, F.S.  

https://careersourceflorida.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/09_CSF-Ethics-and-Transparency-Policy-FINAL.pdf
https://careersourceflorida.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/09_CSF-Ethics-and-Transparency-Policy-FINAL.pdf
https://careersourceflorida.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/09_CSF-Ethics-and-Transparency-Policy-FINAL.pdf
https://careersourceflorida.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/09_CSF-Ethics-and-Transparency-Policy-FINAL.pdf
https://careersourceflorida.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/09_CSF-Ethics-and-Transparency-Policy-FINAL.pdf


Local Workforce Development Area and Board Governance 
Policy Number 110 

Page 21 of 23 
 

f) Roles and responsibilities of the CLEO, fiscal agent, LWDB, LWDB 
chairperson, and LWDB executive director and staff; 

g) Required partners and programs; 
h) How the workforce system is funded; 
i) Performance requirements; 
j) Sunshine law requirements; and 
k) Conflict of interest policy and disclosure of potential conflicts of interest. 

  
2. Annual Training Requirements  

LWDB members will complete an annual training to remind them of the purpose 
of their appointment as a member of the LWDB. The annual training will include 
at a minimum:  

 
a) The state’s workforce development goals and strategies;  
b) The purpose of the LWDB;  
c) Roles and responsibilities of the CLEO, fiscal agent, LWDB, LWDB 

chairperson, and LWDB executive director and staff;  
d) How the workforce system is funded; 
e) Performance requirements; 
f) Sunshine law requirements; and 
g) Conflict of interest policy. 

 
In addition to the minimum topics required for new member orientation and annual 
training, LWDBs may add additional topics that meet local needs for creating a 
knowledgeable, high-performing board. New member orientation and annual training 
may be offered in-person and/or virtually at the local area’s discretion. The LWDB 
must retain and provide to FloridaCommerce upon request, attendance records of 
participants and the dates of completion. New board members completing the board 
member orientation are not required to complete the annual refresher training in the 
same year they become a new member. 
 

J. State and Local Monitoring 
 
At the local level, the LWDB must conduct oversight of the procurement process and 
resulting contracts and agreements to ensure all aspects of written agreements and 
contracts are compliant with federal and state laws and regulations. Additionally, the 
LWDB must also ensure that governing agreements are upheld. In instances where the 
LWDB is also the one-stop operator, the LWDB must follow the monitoring 
requirements outlined in Administrative Policy 097 – One-Stop Operator Procurement. 
The LWDB must also monitor compliance with this policy. 

http://www.floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2017-guidance-papers/adminpol097_onestopprocurement_final_9252017.pdf?sfvrsn=2acd72b0_6
http://www.floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2017-guidance-papers/adminpol097_onestopprocurement_final_9252017.pdf?sfvrsn=2acd72b0_6
http://www.floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2017-guidance-papers/adminpol097_onestopprocurement_final_9252017.pdf?sfvrsn=2acd72b0_6
http://www.floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2017-guidance-papers/adminpol097_onestopprocurement_final_9252017.pdf?sfvrsn=2acd72b0_6
http://www.floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2017-guidance-papers/adminpol097_onestopprocurement_final_9252017.pdf?sfvrsn=2acd72b0_6
http://www.floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2017-guidance-papers/adminpol097_onestopprocurement_final_9252017.pdf?sfvrsn=2acd72b0_6
http://www.floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2017-guidance-papers/adminpol097_onestopprocurement_final_9252017.pdf?sfvrsn=2acd72b0_6
http://www.floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2017-guidance-papers/adminpol097_onestopprocurement_final_9252017.pdf?sfvrsn=2acd72b0_6
http://www.floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2017-guidance-papers/adminpol097_onestopprocurement_final_9252017.pdf?sfvrsn=2acd72b0_6


Local Workforce Development Area and Board Governance 
Policy Number 110 

Page 22 of 23 
 

FloridaCommerce will perform programmatic and fiscal monitoring and will review 
the local area's agreements and contracts during the annual monitoring review for 
compliance with federal and state laws and regulations. Findings and other 
noncompliance issues will be handled through the state's monitoring resolution process. 

V. DEFINITIONS 

1. Chairperson is a business representative among the LWDB members who is elected 
by the LWDB. 
 

2. Chief Local Elected Official (CLEO) (CEO in WIOA sec. 3(9)) 
a. A chief elected executive officer of a unit of general local government in a local 

area; and 
b. In a case in which a local area includes more than one unit of general local 

government, the individuals designated under the agreement described in Section 
107(c)(1)(B). 

 
2. Executive Director is an individual hired or designated by the LWDB to perform the 

operational and administrative functions of the local board. The term also includes the 
roles of chief executive officer and president of the LWDB. 
 

3. Fiscal Agent is the entity designated to perform accounting and funds management on 
behalf of the CLEO. 
 

4. For cause includes but is not limited to, engaging in fraud or other criminal acts, 
incapacity, unfitness, neglect of duty, official incompetence or irresponsibility, 
misfeasance, malfeasance, nonfeasance, gross mismanagement, waste, or lack of 
performance. 
 

5. Governance Agreements (i.e., Interlocal, Consortium, and other governing 
agreements) are written agreements designed to ensure that decisions of CLEO(s) or 
a consortium, including how the local board is governed, roles and responsibilities of 
members, liabilities, etc., are accurately documented and reflect the agreement of the 
chief elected officials in all jurisdictions of a local area.  
 

6. Local Workforce Development Area (LWDA) is a geographical area that serves as 
the jurisdiction for the administration of workforce development activities and has been 
granted such designation by meeting criteria as prescribed in Administrative Policy 94 
– Local Workforce Development Area Designation. 
 

7. Local Workforce Development Board (LWDB) is a board established under WIOA 
sec. 107, to set policy for the local workforce development system. 

 
8. Education and Industry Consortium is a consortium established under section 

445.007(15), F. S., which is composed of representatives of educational entities and 

http://www.floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2017-guidance-papers/localareadesignatn-ap94.pdf?sfvrsn=2e3770b0_4
https://floridajobs.org/local-workforce-development-board-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers
http://www.floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2017-guidance-papers/localareadesignatn-ap94.pdf?sfvrsn=2e3770b0_4
http://www.floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2017-guidance-papers/localareadesignatn-ap94.pdf?sfvrsn=2e3770b0_4
http://www.floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2017-guidance-papers/localareadesignatn-ap94.pdf?sfvrsn=2e3770b0_4
http://www.floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2017-guidance-papers/localareadesignatn-ap94.pdf?sfvrsn=2e3770b0_4
http://www.floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2017-guidance-papers/localareadesignatn-ap94.pdf?sfvrsn=2e3770b0_4
http://www.floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2017-guidance-papers/localareadesignatn-ap94.pdf?sfvrsn=2e3770b0_4
http://www.floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2017-guidance-papers/localareadesignatn-ap94.pdf?sfvrsn=2e3770b0_4
http://www.floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2017-guidance-papers/localareadesignatn-ap94.pdf?sfvrsn=2e3770b0_4


Local Workforce Development Area and Board Governance 
Policy Number 110 

Page 23 of 23 
 

businesses in the designated local area and meets the criteria established in 
CareerSource Strategic Policy 2023.09.19.A.2. 

VI. REVISION HISTORY 

Date  Description  
TBD Issued by Florida Department of Commerce. 
TBD Revised by Florida Department of Commerce and approved by the 

CareerSource Florida Board of Directors. 
07/01/2021  Revised and issued by the Florida Department of Economic  

Opportunity to incorporate the requirements of the Reimagining 
Education and Career Help Act of 2021 (House Bill 1507).  

03/04/2021  Issued by the Florida Department of Economic Opportunity.  
02/18/2021  Approved by CareerSource Florida Board of Directors.  

VII. RESOURCES 
WIOA Fact Sheet: Governance and Leadership  

https://irp-cdn.multiscreensite.com/dc0a626e/files/uploaded/WIOA_GovernLeadership_FactSheet.pdf
https://irp-cdn.multiscreensite.com/dc0a626e/files/uploaded/WIOA_GovernLeadership_FactSheet.pdf


 
 

 
 
 
Action Item 2 

 
CAREERSOURCE FLORIDA ADMINISTRATIVE POLICY 091 

LOCAL WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT BOARD  
COMPOSITION AND CERTIFICATION 

 
Public Law 113-128, the Workforce Innovation and Opportunity Act, Section 107 
describes the establishment, membership criteria, and certification of local workforce 
development boards.  
 
Each local workforce development area (local area) in the state shall establish a local 
workforce development board to carry out the functions specified for the local workforce 
development board under WIOA Section 107(d) for such local area. The state workforce 
development board, in partnership with the Florida Department of Commerce ensures 
local workforce development boards have a membership consistent with the 
requirements of federal and state law, state policy, and have developed a plan 
consistent with the state’s four-year WIOA plan. 
 
The Florida Department of Commerce issued CareerSource Florida Administrative 
Policy 091 – Local Workforce Development Board Composition and Certification. On 
July 1, 2021, this policy was revised and approved by the CareerSource Florida Board 
of Directors to incorporate the requirements of the Reimagining Education and Career 
help Act of 2021 (House Bill 1507). 
 
On May 15, 2023, Senate Bill 240, an act relating to education, amended Section 
445.007(15), Florida Statutes formally changed the name of the Florida Department of 
Economic Opportunity to the Florida Department of Commerce. This legislation also 
added additional requirements to the function of local workforce development boards 
including the appointment of local education and industry consortiums by local boards.  
On June 7, 2023, the CareerSource Florida Board of Directors approved the following 
strategic policies: 
 

• Board Governance and Leadership 
• Certification of Local Workforce Development Areas and Local Workforce 

Development Boards 

Additionally, on September 19, 2023, the CareerSource Florida Board of Directors 
approved CareerSource Florida Strategic Policy – Education and Industry Consortiums. 
 

CareerSource Florida 
Joint Strategic Policy and 

Performance and Finance Council 
Meeting 

February 27, 2024 
Action Item 2 

 
Approved________________ 

 

https://careersourceflorida.com/wp-content/uploads/2023/11/REACH-Act-and-SB240-Overview.pdf
https://careersourceflorida.com/wp-content/uploads/2023/11/REACH-Act-and-SB240-Overview.pdf
https://careersourceflorida.com/wp-content/uploads/2023/06/Board-Governance-and-Leadership-Policy.pdf
https://careersourceflorida.com/wp-content/uploads/2023/06/Certification-of-Local-Workforce-Development-Areas-and-Local-Workforce-Development-Boards-Policy.pdf
https://careersourceflorida.com/wp-content/uploads/2023/06/Certification-of-Local-Workforce-Development-Areas-and-Local-Workforce-Development-Boards-Policy.pdf
https://careersourceflorida.com/wp-content/uploads/2023/09/Education-and-Industry-Consortiums-Strategic-Policy.pdf


 
 

CareerSource Florida Administrative Policy 091 – Local Workforce Development Board 
Composition and Certification has been revised and updated with conforming changes 
to the recently approved strategic policies and to provide local workforce development 
boards with the process for establishing local workforce development board leadership, 
membership and ensuring compliance to obtain certification under the Workforce 
Innovation and Opportunity Act and Florida Statutes. 
 

_________________________ 
FOR CONSIDERATION 

 
• Approve the updated and amended CareerSource Florida Administrative 

Policy 091 – Local Workforce Development Board Composition and 
Certification 
 

Supporting Authorities: 
 

• Public Law 113-128, Workforce Innovation and Opportunity Act Sections 
106 and 107 

• CareerSource Florida Strategic Policy 2020.02.20.A.1. – Board Governance 
and Leadership 

• CareerSource Florida Strategic Policy 2000.08.15.8D – Certification of Local 
Workforce Development Areas and Local Workforce Development Boards 

• CareerSource Florida Strategic Policy 2023.09.19.A.2. – Education and 
Industry Consortiums 

• 20 Code of Federal Regulations 679.320 

• Sections 445.004 and 445.007, Florida Statutes 
 

https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/PLAW-113publ128/pdf/PLAW-113publ128.pdf
https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/PLAW-113publ128/pdf/PLAW-113publ128.pdf
https://careersourceflorida.com/wp-content/uploads/2023/06/Board-Governance-and-Leadership-Policy.pdf
https://careersourceflorida.com/wp-content/uploads/2023/06/Certification-of-Local-Workforce-Development-Areas-and-Local-Workforce-Development-Boards-Policy.pdf
https://careersourceflorida.com/wp-content/uploads/2023/09/Education-and-Industry-Consortiums-Strategic-Policy.pdf
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-20/chapter-V/part-679/subpart-C/section-679.320
http://www.leg.state.fl.us/Statutes/index.cfm?App_mode=Display_Statute&Search_String=&URL=0400-0499/0445/Sections/0445.004.html
http://www.leg.state.fl.us/Statutes/index.cfm?App_mode=Display_Statute&Search_String=&URL=0400-0499/0445/Sections/0445.007.html


Administrative Policy 

 
 

POLICY 
NUMBER  

091 

Title: Local Workforce Development Board Composition and Certification 

Program: Workforce Innovation and Opportunity Act 

Effective: 06/08/2016 Revised: TBD 

I. PURPOSE AND SCOPE  
The purpose of this policy is to provide local workforce development boards (LWDBs) 
with the requirements for LWDB membership composition under the Workforce 
Innovation and Opportunity Act (WIOA) and Chapter 445, Florida Statutes (F.S.), and the 
process for certification of LWDBs.  

II. BACKGROUND  
Each local workforce development area (local area) in the state shall establish a local 
workforce development board to carry out the functions specified for the LWDB under 
WIOA sec. 107(d) for such local area. The state workforce development board (state 
board), in partnership with the Florida Department of Commerce (FloridaCommerce), will 
ensure LWDBs have a membership consistent with the requirements of federal and state 
law, state policy, and have developed a plan consistent with the state’s four-year WIOA 
plan. 

III. AUTHORITY 
Public Law 113-128, Workforce Innovation and Opportunity Act Sections 106 and 
107 

CareerSource Florida Strategic Policy 2020.02.20.A.1. 

CareerSource Florida Strategic Policy 2023.09.19.A.2. 

20 Code of Federal Regulations 679.320 

https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/PLAW-113publ128/pdf/PLAW-113publ128.pdf
https://careersourceflorida.com/wp-content/uploads/2023/06/Board-Governance-and-Leadership-Policy.pdf
https://careersourceflorida.com/wp-content/uploads/2023/09/Education-and-Industry-Consortiums-Strategic-Policy.pdf
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-20/chapter-V/part-679/subpart-C/section-679.320


Local Workforce Development Board Composition and Certification 
Policy Number 091 

Page 2 of 8 
 
Sections 445.004 and 445.007, F.S. 

IV. POLICIES AND PROCEDURES  
Outlined below are the policies and procedures for certifying LWDBs and ensuring the 
composition of and appointment of members to LWDBs are consistent with the provisions 
of federal and state requirements. 

A. LWDB Membership and Composition 

The Governor, in partnership with the state board, shall establish criteria for use by 
Chief Local Elected Officials (CLEOs) to appoint members of the LWDBs in 
accordance with WIOA sec. 107(b)(2) and to ensure there is appropriate and equitable 
representation from all counties included in the local area. The composition of the 
LWDB must meet the following criteria: 

1. Business 

A majority of the LWDB members shall represent businesses in the local area as 
individuals who: 

a. Are owners of a business, chief executives or operating officers of businesses, 
or other business executives or employers with optimum policymaking or 
hiring authority.  

b. Represent businesses, including small businesses, or organizations 
representing businesses that provide employment opportunities that, at a 
minimum, include high-quality, work-relevant training and development in in-
demand industry sectors or occupations in the local area (at least two 
representatives of small businesses must be included). 

c. Are appointed from individuals nominated by local business organizations and 
business trade associations. 

d. Are not current members of the local area’s Education and Industry 
Consortium as defined by CareerSource Florida’s Strategic Policy 
2023.09.19.A.2. 

 
2. Labor/Apprenticeships 

Not less than 20 percent of the members shall be representatives of the workforce 
within the local area that: 

a. Include at least two representatives of labor organizations nominated by local 
labor federations. For a local area in which no employees are represented by 
such organizations, at least two other representatives of employees will be 
included. 

b. Include at least one representative of a labor organization or a training director 

http://www.leg.state.fl.us/Statutes/index.cfm?App_mode=Display_Statute&Search_String=&URL=0400-0499/0445/Sections/0445.004.html
http://www.leg.state.fl.us/Statutes/index.cfm?App_mode=Display_Statute&Search_String=&URL=0400-0499/0445/Sections/0445.007.html


Local Workforce Development Board Composition and Certification 
Policy Number 091 

Page 3 of 8 
 

from a joint labor-management apprenticeship program. If no union affiliated 
registered apprenticeship programs exist in the area, a representative of a non-
union affiliated registered apprenticeship program must be appointed, if one 
exists.  

c. May include representatives of community-based organizations that have 
demonstrated experience and expertise in addressing the employment needs of 
individuals with barriers to employment, including organizations that serve 
veterans or provide/support competitive integrated employment for 
individuals with disabilities.  

d. May include representatives of organizations that have demonstrated 
experience and expertise in addressing the employment, training, or education 
needs of eligible youth, including representatives or organizations that serve 
out-of-school youth. 
 

3. Education 

Each LWDB shall include representatives of entities administering education 
and training activities in the local area who: 

a. Include a representative of eligible providers administering adult education 
and literacy activities under Title II of WIOA. 

b. Include a representative of institutions of higher education providing 
workforce investment activities (including community colleges). 

c. Include a representative of a private education provider if a public education 
or training provider is represented on the LWDB. LWDBs can search local 
private education providers on the Florida Department of Education website 
Commission for Independent Education (fldoe.org). The state board may 
waive this requirement if requested by a LWDB if it is demonstrated that such 
representative does not exist in the local area. 

d. May include representatives of local educational agencies and community-
based organizations with demonstrated experience and expertise in addressing 
the education or training needs of individuals with barriers to employment. 

e. Are not current members of the local area’s Education and Industry 
Consortium as defined by CareerSource Florida Policy 2023.09.19.A.2. 
 

When there is more than one institution in each of the types of educational entities 
listed above, nominations are solicited from representatives of each of these 
entities. 
 
LWDBs requesting to waive the requirement for private education provider 
representation on the board must demonstrate that such a provider does not exist 
in the local area and/or is not willing to serve on the board. The LWDB will 
describe, in a locally defined process, how private education providers will be 
identified, and efforts taken to include those representatives on the LWDB. If 
through the locally defined process the LWDB finds that a private education 

https://web02.fldoe.org/CIE/SearchSchools/SchoolSearch.aspx


Local Workforce Development Board Composition and Certification 
Policy Number 091 

Page 4 of 8 
 

provider representative of an entity administering education and training activities 
in the local area does not exist or is not willing to serve on the board, the LWDB 
must submit a Private Education Provider Waiver Request Form (Attachment A) 
to: LWDBGovernance@commerce.fl.gov. The request must include a copy of the 
locally defined process used to identify private education providers and the results 
of the LWDB’s efforts to include those representatives on the LWDB in its 
request. 
 

4. Governmental/Economic/Community Development 

Each LWDB shall include representatives of economic and community 
development as well as governmental entities serving the local area who: 

a. Represent economic and community development entities serving the local 
area. 

b. Represent Vocational Rehabilitation serving the local area. 
c. May represent agencies or entities serving the local area relating 

to transportation, housing, and public assistance. 
d. May represent philanthropic organizations serving the local area. 

5. Other Entity Representation 

Each LWDB may include other individuals or representatives of entities 
determined to be appropriate by the CLEO in the local areas. 
 
Unlike the state board, members of the LWDB may be appointed as 
representatives of more than one entity if the individual meets all the criteria for 
representation. 

B. LWDB Chairperson 

The LWDB chairperson is elected by the members of the LWDB and must be one of 
the business representatives on the LWDB. LWDB chairperson requirements can be 
found in Administrative Policy 110 – Local Workforce Development Area and Board 
Governance. 
 

C. Standing Committees 

The LWDB may designate and direct the activities of standing committees to provide 
information and to assist the LWDB in carrying out its required activities, as further 
prescribed in WIOA sec. 107(b)(4).  

 
D. Authority of Board Members 

Members of the board who represent organizations, agencies, or other entities must 
be individuals with optimum policymaking authority within the organizations, 

https://floridajobs.org/local-workforce-development-board-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers
http://floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2021-guidance-papers/adminpol110_wioa_lwdarea-and-boardgov.pdf?sfvrsn=2f524db0_2


Local Workforce Development Board Composition and Certification 
Policy Number 091 

Page 5 of 8 
 

agencies or entities.  

E. Board Member Recruiting, Vetting and Nominating 

The LWDB, in consultation with the CLEO, must develop and implement written 
processes and procedures for recruiting, vetting and nominating LWDB members. 
The qualifications of LWDB members must be documented, align with the 
requirements of WIOA, and be compliant with all federal and state laws, rules and 
regulations, and applicable state policies. Documentation supporting the recruitment, 
vetting and nomination process, including names of nominating organizations and 
names of all candidates and their qualifications, must be retained for not less than five 
years. 

In addition to criteria outlined in Section A. of this policy, the members of the LWDB 
must represent diverse geographic areas within the local area and must ensure 
appropriate and equitable representation from all counties included in the local area. 
The importance of minority and gender representation must be considered when 
making appointments to the LWDB1.  

 
F. Appointment of Board Members 

The CLEO in a local area is authorized to appoint the members of the LWDB who 
meet the criteria outlined in Section IV.A. of this policy. The CLEO may not delegate 
the responsibility of appointing members to the LWDB, to the executive director or 
to staff of the LWDB. 

When a local area includes more than one unit of local government, the CLEOs of 
such units may execute an agreement that specifies the respective roles of the 
individual CLEOs regarding: 
 
a. The selection, appointment, removal or reappointment of the members of the 

LWDB from individuals nominated or recommended to be such members; and 
b. Carrying out any other responsibilities assigned to such officials in accordance 

with WIOA. 

If after a reasonable effort the CLEOs are unable to reach agreement, the Governor 
may appoint the members of the LWDB from individuals so nominated or 
recommended. 

LWDBs must adopt and abide by a conflict-of-interest policy that ensures compliance 
with federal and state laws, rules and regulations and applicable state policies. 

Upon appointment to the LWDB, members must be educated about and acknowledge 
state and local conflict-of-interest policies.  

LWDB members who are not otherwise required to file a full and public disclosure of 
 

1 Section 445.007(1), F.S. 



Local Workforce Development Board Composition and Certification 
Policy Number 091 

Page 6 of 8 
 

financial interests under Section 8, Art. II of the State Constitution or Section 
112.3144, F.S. must be advised of their obligation to file a statement of financial 
interests under Section 112.3145, F.S.  

 
G. Board Member Vacancies, Term Limits and Removal 

LWDB members who no longer hold the position or status that made them eligible 
appointees must resign or be removed by the CLEO. Local workforce development 
board vacancies must be filled within a reasonable amount of time, but no more than 
12 months from the vacancy occurrence. This process must be described in the local 
area’s bylaws or in a local operating procedure. 
 
LWDB members shall serve staggered terms and may not serve for more than eight 
(8) consecutive years unless the member is a representative of a government entity. 
Service in a term of office which commenced before July 1, 2021, does not count 
toward the 8- year limitation. 

The Governor and CLEO may remove members of a LWDB, its Executive Director 
and/or the designated person responsible for operational and administrative functions 
of the board for cause. 
 

H. Certification of Local Workforce Development Boards 

1. Certification 

Once every two years, one LWDB must be certified for each local area in the state, 
based on the criteria described in WIOA sec. 107(b) and this policy. For a second 
or subsequent certification, certification must also be based on the extent to which 
the local area ensures workforce investment activities carried out in the local area 
enabled the local area to meet the corresponding performance accountability 
measures and achieve fiscal integrity as defined in WIOA sec. 106(e)(2). 
 
The state board, on behalf of the Governor, approves the certification of LWDBs 
every two years. FloridaCommerce, in consultation with CareerSource Florida, 
will issue instructions to the LWDBs for certification. At the appropriate time 
intervals, instructions will be issued to LWDBs about the certification process, to 
include documentation requirements. 
 
At a minimum, LWDBs must provide the following certification documents to 
FloridaCommerce: 
 
a. LWDB membership, composition and policymaking authority.  
b. LWDB chairperson (confirming the chairperson is one of the business 

representatives on the LWDB).  
c. Membership of standing committees including education and industry 

consortium(s).  



Local Workforce Development Board Composition and Certification 
Policy Number 091 

Page 7 of 8 
 

 
Upon satisfactory review of an LWDB’s certification documents, 
FloridaCommerce will provide a recommendation regarding certification to the 
state board.  
 

2. Failure to Achieve Certification 

Failure of an LWDB to achieve certification shall result in appointment and 
certification of a new LWDB for the local area pursuant to WIOA sec. 107(c)(1). 
Administrative Policy 104 – Sanctions for Local Workforce Development Boards' 
Failure to Meet Federal and State Standards details the actions the state board and 
FloridaCommerce may take if an LWDB fails to meet this standard. 

I. Decertification of Local Workforce Development Boards 

The Governor may decertify a LWDB in accordance with WIOA Sec. 107(c)(3), as 
further prescribed in Administrative Policy 104, Sanctions for Local Workforce 
Development Boards’ Failure to Meet Federal and State Standards. 

V. DEFINITIONS 
1. Small business - defined by the Small Business Administration. 

 
2. Economic agency - includes a local planning or zoning commission or board, a 

community development agency, or another local agency or institution responsible 
for regulating, promoting, or assisting in local economic development. 
 

3. For cause – includes, but is not limited to, engaging in fraud or other criminal acts, 
incapacity, unfitness, neglect of duty, official incompetence and irresponsibility, 
misfeasance, malfeasance, nonfeasance, gross mismanagement, waste, or lack of 
performance. 
 

4. Person with optimum policy-making authority - an individual who can reasonably 
be expected to speak affirmatively on behalf of the entity he or she represents and to 
commit that entity to a chosen course of action. 

 
5. Demonstrated experience and expertise - an individual who (1) is a workplace 

learning advisor as defined in WIOA sec. 3(70); (2) contributes to the field of 
workforce development, human resources, training and development, or a core 
program function; or (3) the LWDB recognizes for valuable contributions in education 
or workforce development related fields. 

 
 
 

http://www.floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2020-guidance-papers/adminpolicy104_-sanctionslwdbsfailmeetfed-statestds---final.pdf?sfvrsn=858143b0_2
http://www.floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2020-guidance-papers/adminpolicy104_-sanctionslwdbsfailmeetfed-statestds---final.pdf?sfvrsn=858143b0_2
http://www.floridajobs.org/docs/default-source/lwdb-resources/policy-and-guidance/guidance-papers/2020-guidance-papers/adminpolicy104_-sanctionslwdbsfailmeetfed-statestds---final.pdf?sfvrsn=858143b0_2
https://www.sba.gov/contracting/getting-started-contractor/make-sure-you-meet-sba-size-standards


Local Workforce Development Board Composition and Certification 
Policy Number 091 

Page 8 of 8 
 

VI. REVISION HISTORY 

Date  Description  
TBD Issued by the Florida Department of Commerce to align with 

CareerSource Florida Strategic Policy 2023.09.19.A.2. and other 
changes. 

TBD Revised and approved by CareerSource Florida Board of Directors. 

07/01/2021 Revised and issued by the Florida Department of Economic 
Opportunity to incorporate the requirements of the Reimagining 
Education and Career Help Act of 2021 (House Bill 1507). 

01/07/2021 Issued by the Florida Department of Economic Opportunity. 
12/03/2020 Revised and approved by CareerSource Florida Board of Directors. 
02/20/2020 Revised and approved by CareerSource Florida Board of Directors. 
06/08/2016 Issued by the Florida Department of Economic Opportunity. This 

administrative policy supersedes and replaces FG-OSPS-073, 
Regional Workforce Board Composition, Certification and 
Decertification, issued June 29, 2013. 

VII. ATTACHMENTS 

Attachment A – Private Education Provider Waiver Request Form 
 



 

Private Education Provider 
Waiver Request 

Name of Local Workforce Development Board: 

Date of Submission: 

Contact Person Name: Phone: 
 

Email Address: 
 

To submit this request, please respond to the following statements and ensure the appropriate signatures are affixed to this 
form prior to submission. 

Requirement Yes / No / N/A 

1. The local board confirms that a private 
education provider was not found within the 
counties served in the local area.  

 

2. The local board has attached to this waiver 
request proof of the methods used to search for 
a private education provider in the local area.  

 

OR 
3. The local board confirms that a private 

education provider was found; however, was not 
willing to serve as a member of the local board. 
Enter N/A if not applicable. 

 

4. The local board has attached to this waiver 
request proof of the private education provider’s 
unwillingness to serve as a member of the local 
board. 

 

 
BY SIGNING BELOW, THE CHIEF LOCAL ELECTED OFFICIAL AND THE LOCAL WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT 
BOARD EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR CERTIFY THAT THE LOCAL BOARD HAS FOLLOWED THE STEPS OUTLINED 
ABOVE AND DID NOT LOCATE A PRIVATE EDUCATION PROVIDER WHO QUALIFIED OR WAS WILLING TO SERVE 
AS A MEMBER OF THE LOCAL BOARD AND REQUESTS A PRIVATE EDUCATION PROVIDER WAIVER FOR THE 
LOCAL BOARD.   
 

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 

Name: 

Signature: 

Date: 

 



CHIEF LOCAL ELECTED OFFICIAL 

Name and Title: County: 

Signature: Date: 

 

CHIEF LOCAL ELECTED OFFICIAL 

Name and Title: County: 

Signature: Date: 

 

CHIEF LOCAL ELECTED OFFICIAL 

Name and Title: County: 

Signature: Date: 

 

CHIEF LOCAL ELECTED OFFICIAL 

Name and Title: County: 

Signature: Date: 

 

CHIEF LOCAL ELECTED OFFICIAL 

Name and Title: County: 

Signature: Date: 

 

CHIEF LOCAL ELECTED OFFICIAL 

Name and Title: County: 

Signature: Date: 

 
 



 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Information Items 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
 

Speaker Bios 
 

Bruce Ferguson  
 

Bruce currently serves as President & CEO for CareerSource 
Northeast Florida.  In this role, he leads a workforce system 
consisting of multiple One-Stop Career Centers and a Business 
Services Center within a six-county region of Northeast Florida.  He 
has over 32 years of experience in workforce development. Bruce 
was re-appointed to the US Department of Labor Workforce 
Information Advisory Council by the Secretary of Labor in July 2023 
and previously served on the council from 2016 to 2020. 
 
Bruce is very engaged with economic development entities and 
Chambers of Commerce in Northeast Florida; acting as a catalyst in 
forming strong relationships with these vital partners.  He has served 
as a consultant for the US Department of Labor as part of their Driving 

Transformation Summits in Seattle, Baltimore and Chicago.  Bruce is sought as a guest speaker 
to demonstrate how workforce, economic development and educational entities and systems can 
and should work together.  He has spoken at national conferences such as National Workforce 
Association, Workforce Innovations, National Association of Workforce Boards and the 
International Economic Development Council. In 2011, he was recognized as the Toni Jennings 
Workforce Development Professional of the Year by the Florida Economic Development Council. 
 
Bruce has been active on several Boards of Directors:  

• Florida Workforce Development Association – Past President 
• Jacksonville Regional Chamber of Commerce - Board of Trustees 
• Early Learning Coalition of Duval County – Vice Chair 
• Elevate Northeast Florida – Steering Committee 
• Young Life, Clay County (Finance Committee) 
• Grace Episcopal Day School – Past Chairman 
• Boy Scouts of America, Black Creek District – Past Chairman 

 
Bruce holds a Bachelor’s degree from the University of Georgia and earned his M.B.A. from 
Jacksonville University in 2001.  He is a 2003 graduate of the University of Oklahoma Economic 
Development Institute. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
 

 
Jimmy Heckman  
 

Jimmy Heckman is an economist and bureau chief for Workforce 
Statistics and Economic Research (WSER) at FloridaCommerce. 
Heckman researches a variety of topics including reducing 
unemployment, long-term growth industries, and in-demand job skills.   
  
Heckman is a Florida native and attended Florida State University 
where he earned a master’s degree in applied economics.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Keantha Moore  
 

Keantha Moore currently serves as deputy chief of the Bureau of 
One-Stop and Program Support with the Florida Department of 
Commerce.  
 
Moore has been part of Florida’s workforce development system 
for 17 years, which started with 10 years of experience at the local 
workforce development board level. Her local experience ranged 
from starting as a front-line staff person helping to connect job 
seekers with employment, to her culminating role as the director of 
operational excellence. She then transitioned to the Florida 
Commerce team where she has served in several leadership 
capacities over the past seven years.  

 


	Meeting Agenda
	Consent Items
	Consent Item 1: Nov 14, 2023 Meeting Minutes
	Consent Item 2: Dec 11, 2023 Meeting Minutes
	Consent Item 3: Dec 11, 2023 Meeting Minutes

	Action Items
	Action Item 1: CSF Administrative Policy 110 | LWDA & Board Governance
	Action Item 2: CSF Administrative Policy 091 | LWDB Composition & Certification

	Information Items
	Speaker Bios


	ADP4543.tmp
	I. PURPOSE AND SCOPE
	II. BACKGROUND
	III. AUTHORITY
	IV. POLICIES AND PROCEDURES
	A. Roles and Responsibilities
	1. Chief Local Elected Official (CLEO)
	2. Fiscal Agent
	b) Conducting financial monitoring of service providers; and
	3. Local Workforce Development Board
	4. Local Workforce Development Board Chairperson
	5. Local Workforce Development Board Executives


	B. One Entity Performing Multiple Functions
	E. Temporary Assumption of Duties for Procured and Contracted Services
	2. Failed Procurement
	a) A copy of the competitive solicitation;
	3. Local Workforce Development Area Multi-Function Agreement

	F. Governance Agreements
	1. Interlocal, Consortium, and Other Agreements
	2. Bylaws

	H. WIOA Sunshine Provision, Public Disclosures, and Transparency
	I. New Board Member Orientation and Annual Training
	1. New LWDB Member Orientation
	2. Annual Training Requirements

	J. State and Local Monitoring
	V. DEFINITIONS
	2. Chief Local Elected Official (CLEO) (CEO in WIOA sec. 3(9))

	VI. REVISION HISTORY
	VII. RESOURCES




